DRAFT

Australia Post Enterprise Agreement 2007

Version 2 – 18 October 2007



Table of Contents

Agreed terms		5
1.	TITLE	5
2.	APPLICATION, DURATION AND SCOPE	5
3.	OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY	5
4.	ANTI-DISCRIMINATION	6
5.	INDEX OF FACILITATIVE PROVISIONS	6
6.	CATEGORIES OF EMPLOYEES	8
7.	PERMANENT / FIXED TERM EMPLOYEES — CONDITIONS OF SERVICE	.11
8.	CASUAL EMPLOYEES – CONDITIONS OF SERVICE	. 12
9.	SALARY RATES AND RELATED MATTERS	. 12
10.	PAYMENT OF SALARIES	. 16
11.	SUPPORTED WAGE SYSTEM	. 16
12.	ALLOWANCES	. 19
13.	DEDUCTIONS FROM SALARIES OF RENT FOR RESIDENCE	. 29
14.	HOURS OF DUTY	. 29
15.	OVERTIME	.38
16.	EXCESS TRAVELLING TIME	. 45
17.	SHIFT WORK	. 48
18.	ANNUAL LEAVE	. 53
19.	PERSONAL LEAVE	. 58
20.	BEREAVEMENT LEAVE	.63
21.	PARENTAL LEAVE	. 63
22.	STUDY/EXAMINATION LEAVE	. 68
23.	LEAVE TO ATTEND AS WITNESS IN INDUSTRIAL PROCEEDINGS	. 68
24.	JURY SERVICE	. 68
25.	WORK/LIFE	. 69
26.	PUBLIC HOLIDAYS	. 69

27.	TEMPORARY PART-TIME SUPPORT SERVICES OFFICERS	. 71
28.	NOTICE BOARDS	. 72
29.	EMPLOYEE CONSULTATION	. 72
30.	EMPLOYMENT SECURITY	. 74
31.	LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT	. 74
32.	EMPLOYEE CONDUCT AND DISCIPLINE	. 75
33.	TEAM BASED WORK	. 77
34.	SORT/MACHINE RATES	
35.	JOB DESIGN	. 78
36.	BENEFIT DISTRIBUTION	. 79
37.	DISPUTE RESOLUTION	. 80
38.	SALARY SACRIFICE	. 85
39.	DEFINITIONS	
40.	AUSTRALIAN WORKPLACE AGREEMENTS	
41.	EMPLOYMENT CONDITIONS - EXPIRED CERTIFIED AGREEMENTS	. 86
Attachment A	- Classifications	87
Attachment B	- Adjustment of Allowances	91
Attachment C	- Bonus - Eligibility	92
	- Additional Employment Conditions From Expired Certified Agreements Period of Operation of EBA 7	94
Appendix 1	Interstate Linehaul Agreement	95
Appendix 2	Extension of Penalty Rates Eligibility Agreements	98
Appendix 3	Mail Network Queensland Agreements	99
Appendix 4	Queensland Linehaul Agreement	.100
Appendix 5	Administrative Officer Level 6, Salary and Employment Conditions Agreement	.101
Appendix 6	Sprintpak Division Agreement	.104
Appendix 7	Home Based Work Agreement	.105
Appendix 8	Redundancy, Redeployment, Retraining Agreement	.106

FORM A	114
FORM B	115

Agreed terms

				Origin	
1.	TITLE	TITLE			
1.1	This Agreement will be known as the Australia Post Enterprise Agreement 2007 and referred to as EBA7.				
1.2	This Agreement will operate in conjunction with determinations made from time to time under s. 89 of the <i>Australian Postal Corporation Act 1989</i> . For the avoidance of doubt, the determinations made under s. 89 are not incorporated in this Agreement unless specifically included.				
1.3	Where will pre		mination is inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement, the latter	& Tech	
2.	APPLI	CATION	N, DURATION AND SCOPE	Date	
2.1	The Ag	ıreemen	t is binding on:	needs to be inserted	
	2.1.1	Austra	ılia Post;	CI 16.1	
	2.1.2	The fol	llowing unions:	EBA 6 except	
		(a)	Communications, Electrical, Electronic, Energy, Information, Postal, Plumbing and Allied Services Union of Australia (CEPU);	16.1(c). See 2.3	
		(b)	Community & Public Sector Union (CPSU);		
		(c)	Association of Professional Engineers, Scientists and Managers Australia (APESMA); and		
		(d)	Automotive, Food, Metals, Engineering, Printing and Kindred Industries Union (AMWU).		
	2.1.3	Employ	yees employed in classifications set out in Attachment A.		
2.2	The Agreement will operate on and from the date of lodgement with the Workplace Authority and will expire on 31 December 2010.				
2.3	The Agreement applies to all employees of Australia Post employed in classifications set out in Attachment A.				
3.	OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY				
3.1	The parties are committed to achieving and maintaining healthy and safe working conditions in all Australia Post workplaces by abiding by relevant occupational health and safety legislation. This clause is not intended to confer rights and obligations outside the <i>Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation Act</i> , the <i>Commonwealth</i>				

Occupational Health and Safety Act (Cth OHS Act) and associated legislation or processes, not is it intended to allow right of entry to workplaces outside the Workplace Relations Act 1996.

3.2 This commitment also imposes an obligation on Australia Post to consult with the Union on occupational health and safety issues. This includes consultation on the establishment and variation of an Australia Post Health and Safety Management Arrangement, developed in accordance with the requirements of the Cth OHS Act, and procedures relating to Designated Work Groups, Health and Safety Representatives and Health and Safety Committees.

CI 7.1 GC of E. S 3(m) in lieu of 3(j).

4. ANTI-DISCRIMINATION

4.1 It is the intention of the respondents to this Agreement to achieve the principal object in section 3(m) of the *Workplace Relations Act 1996* through respecting and valuing the diversity of the workforce by helping to prevent and eliminate discrimination on the basis of race, colour, sex, sexual preference, age, physical or mental disability, marital status, family responsibilities, pregnancy, religion, political opinion, national extraction or social origin.

CI 7.2 GC of E

4.2 Accordingly, in fulfilling their obligations under the dispute resolution clause, the parties must make every endeavour to ensure that neither the agreement provisions nor their operation are directly or indirectly discriminatory in their effects.

CI 7.3 GC of E except cl 7.3.2 and reference to State in 7.3.3.

4.3 Nothing in this clause is to be taken to affect:

WRA references changed in CI 4.3(c).

- (a) Any different treatment (or treatment having different effects) which is specifically exempted under the Commonwealth anti-discrimination legislation;
- (b) An employee, employer or registered organisation, pursuing matters of discrimination in any federal jurisdiction, including by application to the Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission;
- (c) The exemptions in s. 659(3) of the Act.

5. INDEX OF FACILITATIVE PROVISIONS

5.1 Agreement to Vary Operation of Provisions

CI 9.1 GC of E

- 5.1.1 This agreement contains facilitative provisions which allow agreement to be reached between Australia Post and employees on how specific provisions are to apply at the workplace or enterprise level. The facilitative provisions are identified in paragraphs 5.2.1 and 5.3.1.
- 5.1.2 The specific provisions establish both the standard condition and the framework within which agreement can be reached as to how the particular provision should be applied in practice.
- 5.1.3 Facilitative provisions are not to be used as a device to avoid obligations nor should they result in unfairness to an employee or employees covered by this

agreement.	Employees	are not to	be coerced	to reach	agreement on
facilitative p	rovisions.				

Where relevant circumstances change, any party involved can review the 5.1.4 arrangements established under these facilitative provisions, and can, subject to an appropriate period of notice, withdraw their agreement.

5.2 Facilitation by Individual Agreement

5.2.1 The following facilitative provisions can be utilised upon agreement between Australia Post and an employee provided that the agreement complies with clause 5.2.2, 5.2.3 and 5.2.4.

CI 9.2 Gcof F

Subject Matter	Clause Number
Hours of Duty	14.4
Notice of Reduction in Hours – Part-time Employees	14.3
Hours of Duty - Make Up Time	14.8
Hours of Duty - Meal Break	14.9
Overtime - Time Off instead of Payment	15.2.1
Seven Day Shift Workers - Additional R/L - Payment in Lieu	18.8.1
Seven Day Shift Workers - Payment for Public Holidays	18.8.2
During Leave	
Substitution of Public Holidays by Agreement	26.4

- 5.2.2 The agreement reached must be recorded in the time and wages records kept by Australia Post in accordance with Part 19A of the Workplace Relations Regulations 2006.
- 5.2.3 The employee may be accompanied by a person of their choice including a union representative in meeting and conferring with Australia Post about the implementation of the facilitative provisions.

Updated reference

5.2.4 The union must be given a reasonable opportunity to participate in negotiations regarding the proposed implementation of a facilitative provision for one or more of its members. Union involvement does not mean that the consent of the union is required prior to the introduction of agreed facilitative arrangements.

5.3 **Facilitation by Majority Agreement**

Subject matter

5.3.1 The following facilitative provisions can be utilised upon agreement between Australia Post and the majority of employees in the workplace or part of it provided that the agreement complies with 5.2.2, 5.2.3 and 5.2.4. Unions with members employed in the workplace or part of it, shall be informed of the intention to use the facilitative provisions.

CI 9.3 Gcof

,	
Hours of Duty - Meal Break - Technical Employees	14.3.4
Hours of Duty	14.4

Clause number

6. CATEGORIES OF EMPLOYEES

6.1 General

6.1.1 Employees will be employed in one of the following categories:

Cl 12.1 Gcof F

- (a) Permanent employee; or
- (b) Fixed term employee; or
- (c) Casual employee.
- 6.1.2 The engagement of an employee is subject to the person satisfying the prescribed medical assessments as to health and physical fitness and meeting the prescribed character checks.
- 6.1.3 An employee in category 6.1.1(a) and 6.1.1(b) can be employed on a full-time or part-time basis.
- 6.1.4 A part-time employee is an employee who works less than full-time hours of 36.75 hours per week or an average of those hours.
- 6.1.5 At the time of engagement, Australia Post will inform each employee in writing of the terms of their engagement, including:
 - type of employment;
 - whether a probationary period applies and if so, the expected duration of the period and the maximum duration of the period;
 - if the person is engaged as a fixed term employee, the project or task in relation to which the person has been engaged and/or the duration of the engagement; and
 - list of the main instruments governing the terms and conditions of employment.

6.2 Permanent Employees

6.2.1 A person engaged as a permanent employee will be on probation for a period of three months. Prior to the expiry of the probationary period, the employment is confirmed or terminated. This clause is not intended to affect the qualifying service period under s. 643(6) of the *Workplace Relations Act* 1996.

CI 8.6 Ops

6.2.2 An employee on probation must be given one week's notice of termination or payment in lieu thereof. The period of notice in this clause does not apply in

CI 12.2.2 GC of E

		the case of termination for serious and wilful misconduct.		
	6.2.3	Australia Post's staffing resources at facility level will continue to comprise predominantly permanent employees (full and part-time), with a fair and reasonable utilisation of overtime and extended hours for business fluctuations above required staff establishment levels.		
	6.2.4	Australia Post recognises the value of its permanent workforce and is committed to providing full time permanent employment as the preferred option. Where the flow of work provides that work can be effectively and efficiently organised around full time options then full time employment should apply. Where there is an on-going need that cannot be filled in this way the preferred option is permanent part-time work.		
	6.2.5		ime position would only be considered for abolition and replacement art time positions where:	CI 6.4 EBA
		(a)	there is a genuine need subject to clause 6.2.4 above; and	
		(b)	where the position is vacant, unless the position is being abolished consistent with the RRR Agreement (see Attachment D) on the basis that it is no longer required.	
	6.2.6		chstanding 6.2.5 above, where 6.2.5(a) applies an employee may agree wert to part time.	
	6.2.7	-	will be given to permanent part-time employees when applying for nent full-time vacancies in accordance with agreed guidelines.	Att A CL 6 of EBA6
	6.2.8	Promo	tion/Temporary Performance Appeal Rights	Att A CI 1 EBA 6
		Post will continue for the duration of the Agreement to provide employees with appeal rights against provisional promotions and against temporary transfers exceeding 3 months.		
6.3	Fixed T	erm Em	ployees	CI 6.7 EBA 6 but
	6.3.1	Employees can only be recruited on a fixed term basis when it is likely that the employee's service will be required only for a specific period for the purposes of:		changes to cl 6.9 at cl 6.3.3)
		(a)	Recruitment for a specific project or task to provide special skills which are not encompassed by current operational roles;	
		(b)	filling temporary resource needs resulting from specific employee circumstances;	
		(c)	facilitating workforce adjustment/transition strategies for implementation of change or acceptance of new business opportunities. These will be the subject of consultation in accordance with clause 29 and that consultation will include any expected need	

			to use fixed term employees; and	
		(d)	other circumstances agreed between Australia Post and the relevant union or determined by the AIRC.	
	6.3.2	unles	ed term employee will not be held against permanent vacant positions as the reason for employing the fixed term employee against such a ion meets the requirement of clause 6.3.1.	CI 6.8 EBA 6
	6.3.3	The p	period of continuous employment as a fixed term employee can be:	CI 6.9 EBA
		(a)	up to 3 years or corresponding to the duration of the employment break, in the case of a vacancy created by an employee taking an approved employment break of up to 3 years for family reasons, including for parental purposes;	6
		(b)	up to 3 years to facilitate the network changes associated with the South East Queensland Network Change Project. Where an employee has been employed on a fixed term contract for this purpose for more than 2 years and is not offered permanent employment before the expiration of their fixed term contract or an extension of the fixed term contract, they will be paid an incentive payment of 4 weeks' pay for each completed year of continuous service plus a pro rata payment for each completed month of continuous service since the last completed year of service. The incentive payment does not apply to fixed term contracts terminated by the employee or by Australia Post for cause (such as misconduct);	CI 12.3.2 GCof E Att A CI 7 EBA 6
		(c)	in all other cases, up to one year but can be extended beyond one year in particular circumstances for further periods, provided that the period of further continuous employment does not exceed another twelve months and is subject to approval through the nominated Human Resource management section and consultation with unions. Extensions of fixed term employment will, in most circumstances, be limited to planning for known impacts of major change projects.	CI 12.4 GC of E
	6.3.4	of th	re the services of a fixed term employee are terminated before the expiry e period fixed by the terms of engagement, the employee is entitled to see in accordance with s. 661(2) of the <i>Workplace Relations Act 1996</i> .	CI 6.11 of
	6.3.5	proce servi	I term employees who have been subject to the same selection esses that apply to permanent employees, will, subject to satisfactory ce, be given priority if any permanent base level vacancies are filled by mal recruitment during the fixed term period (subject to clause 6.2.7).	EBA6
6.4	Casual	Emplo	pyees	CI 6.12 of EBA6
	6.4.1	irregi	sual employee is a person engaged in relieving work or work of a casual, ular or intermittent nature or of a short term duration and who is engaged paid by the hour but does not include an employee who would properly be	CI 12.4.2

classified as permanent or fixed term.

of GC of E

6.4.2 A casual employee may be engaged for a period up to 12 weeks. Provided that at the end of a 12 week period a casual employee may be offered permanent employment or fixed term employment. Where fixed term employment is offered it must meet the requirements of clause 6.3 of this Agreement.

CI 6.6 EBA

- 6.4.3 Notwithstanding clause 6.4.2 the terms of engagement and the number of casual employees employed under the Christmas arrangements will be the subject of consultation between the parties. Casual employees must not be engaged before Christmas in such a manner as to pre-empt that consultation.
- 6.4.4 An employee will not be engaged as a casual to avoid any obligations of this agreement.

6.5 Relief Staff

- 6.5.1 Australia Post is committed to providing adequate relief staffing to cover business requirements in a way which:
 - (a) ensures that unreasonable workload demands are not placed on other staff;
 - (b) ensures that there is fair and reasonable access by staff to their leave entitlements; and
 - (c) utilises, wherever practical, quality skilled relief staffing, including scope for permanent relief staff.

6.6 Agency Personnel

The parties acknowledge that the use of agency personnel can impact on the employer-employee relationship. Accordingly, Australia Post will provide information on the use of agency personnel to the unions and will also consult on the operations of these arrangements. Information will be provided nationally to the unions on a quarterly basis. This clause does not require Australia Post to provide information about individual employees to the unions.

7. PERMANENT / FIXED TERM EMPLOYEES — CONDITIONS OF SERVICE

7.1 Full-time Employment

Unless otherwise specified, the conditions of service prescribed by this agreement apply to permanent and fixed term full-time employees.

CI 13.1 GC of F

7.2 Part-time Employment

7.2.1 Except as otherwise provided, employment conditions shall apply to part-time employees in the same manner as full-time employees on a pro-rata basis.

CI 6.18-6.19 EBA 6

	7.2.2 Part time employees should be given the same access to development opportunities as other employees.					
8.	CASUAL EMPLOYEES — CONDITIONS OF SERVICE					
8.1	A casual employee is to be paid the normal hourly rate applicable to a permanent employee of the same classification plus a loading of 22.5%.					
8.2	A casual employee shall be paid overtime if the daily hours exceed 7 hours 21 minutes. The overtime is paid at the overtime penalty rate applicable to full- time employees on that day.					
8.3	perma	nent em	ees are entitled to the same ordinary duty penalties as apply to ployees for duty on the particular day. Such penalties are in addition to ding on the normal hourly rate.	CI 14.3 GC of E		
8.4	-		extent provided in this clause and clause 6.4 - Categories of employees, of this agreement do not apply to casual employees.	CI 14.4 GC of E		
8.5	Caring	respons	sibilities	014500		
	8.5.1	-	ct to the evidentiary and notice requirements in clause 19.5, 19.6.2 and , casual employees are entitled to not be available to attend work, or to work:	CI 14.5 GC of E		
		(a)	if they need to care for members of their immediate family (as defined in clause 19.1) or household who are sick and require care and support, or who require care due to an unexpected emergency, or the birth of a child; or			
		(b)	upon the death of an immediate family (as defined in clause 20.3.2) or household member.			
	8.5.2 Australia Post and the employee shall agree on the period for which the employee will be entitled to not be available to attend work. In the absence of agreement, the employee is entitled to not be available to attend work for up to 48 hours (i.e. two days) per occasion. The casual employee is not entitled to any payment for the period of non-attendance.					
	8.5.3	emplo	alia Post must not fail to re-engage a casual employee because the yee accessed the entitlements provided for in this clause. The rights of alia Post to engage or not to engage a casual employee are otherwise fected.			
9.	SALARY RATES AND RELATED MATTERS					
9.1	Work I	Level Sta	andards	CI 15.1 Gcof E		
	Employ	yees are	to be classified in accordance with relevant Work Level or Classification	GUUI E		

Standards where such standards exist.

9.2 Employee Duties

- 9.2.1 Australia Post may direct an employee to carry out such duties as are within the limits of the employee's skills, competence and training, consistent with the relevant classification structure and work level standards.
- 9.2.2 Any such direction shall be consistent with Australia Post's responsibility to provide a safe and healthy work environment.

9.3 Training

- 9.3.1 Australia Post shall provide employees with training relevant to the duties to be performed.
- 9.3.2 Information outlining such training shall be held available at each workplace.

9.4 Selection

9.4.1 Employees

The selection of employees for positions shall be in accordance with procedures determined by Australia Post.

9.4.2 Information

Australia Post shall hold available at each workplace information relating to selection procedures relevant to classifications employed at that workplace.

9.5 Classifications and salary rates

The classifications covered by this agreement are specified in Schedule A.

9.6 Junior rates

Subject to any conditions otherwise prescribed, an employee under 21 years of age and who is employed in the classifications listed in Table 1 below will be paid an annual salary, calculated to the nearest dollar, by applying the appropriate percentage for the age of the employee as specified in Table 2 below, to the minimum rate of an adult employee of the same classification.

Table 1

Administrative Officer Level 1
Drafting Assistant Grade 1
Graphic Design Assistant Grade 1
Mail Officer
Mail Room Officer

Reference to consultatio n with unions removed

CI 7.1 Ops (except 7.1.2)

CI 7.2 Ops, CI 7.2 Admin/Pro, CI 7.2 Tech

Agency Assistant Grades 1 & 2 & Attendant

Parcel Post Officer				
Postal Delivery Officer				
Postal Technical Officer Level 1				
Retail Post Trainee				
Sprintpak Level 1				
Trainee Mail Officer				
Trainee Parcel Post Officer				
Trainee Postal Delivery Officer				
Trainee Postal Services Officer				

Trainee
Draftsman
and
Trainee
Tech
Officer
deleted
from Table
1

Table 2

Age of Employee	Percentage of Minimum Adult Salary	
	%	
Under 17 years	50	
At 17 years	60	
At 18 years	70	
At 19 years	81	
At 20 years	91	

9.7 Apprentices

Subject to any conditions otherwise prescribed, an apprentice under 21 years of age will be paid an annual salary, calculated to the nearest dollar, by applying the percentage indicated in Table 3 for the age or year of service of the employee to the minimum rate prescribed for a Postal Technical Officer Level 2.

Table 3

Age or length of service as an Apprentice	Percentage of minimum salary of Postal Technical Officer Level 2 %	CI 7.3 Tech
Under 18 or 1st year of service	48	
At 18 or 2nd year of service	55	
At 19 or 3rd year of service	75	
At 20 or 4th year of service	88	
,		

9.8 Salary advancement conditions

This sub-clause covers salary advancement conditions in respect of the following classifications; Postal Services Officer, Mail Officer, Parcel Post Officer, Postal Delivery Officer.

Cl 8.1 Ops

9.8.1 New employee

New employees will commence on the Trainee level provided that a trained employee who resumes employment with Australia Post can be engaged at

		the base level if competency for this level is demonstrated.	CI 8.2 Ops
	9.8.2	Salary advancement - permanent employees	
		Trainees will be advanced to the relevant base level salary after three months employment.	
	9.8.3	Salary advancement – casual / fixed term employees	Cl 8.3 Ops
		A casual or fixed term employee will commence at the Trainee level and be advanced to the base level after three months aggregate employment in any twelve-month period.	
	9.8.4	Salary advancement – Postal Delivery Officers	01.0.4.0
		Postal Delivery Officers in Delivery Centres/Facilities will on advancement from the Trainee Postal Delivery Officer level move straight to the third salary point in the Postal Delivery Officer salary range and thereafter be subject to normal incremental advancement. Current Postal Delivery Officers on the first or second salary points will be advanced to the third salary point on and from the date of effect of the first salary increase provided by the Agreement, with staff on the third point retaining their current incremental date and those on the first point being subject to normal incremental advancement.	CI 8.4 Ops
	9.8.5	Juniors	
		Trainee and base classifications — Mail Officer, Parcel Post Officer and Postal Delivery Officer, and Trainee Postal Services Officer	CI 8.5 Ops
		A junior employee will receive the appropriate Junior Trainee or base level salary according to the standard junior percentages prescribed in clause 9.6 until the employee completes twelve months service or reaches 18.5 years of age whichever is the later.	
9.9	Apprentices - Salary Advancement		
	An apprentice will be advanced as a Postal Technical Officer Level 2 on the satisfactory completion of the apprenticeship, and will be paid at the first salary step of a Postal Technical Officer Level 2.		CI 8 Tech
9.10	Salary On Promotion		
	9.10.1	The salary to be paid to an employee on promotion will normally be the minimum rate for that position except that in circumstances involving overlapping salary ranges, the new salary will normally be the next highest salary point in the salary range for the higher position.	Att A Cl 3. EBA 6.
	9.10.2	Previous service at the level to which the employee is being promoted (or higher levels) shall be taken into account when determining salary on promotion and incremental dates in accordance with the same principles that apply to the assessment of higher duties allowance. An employee promoted	

to a position which the employee is occupying on a temporary basis shall not suffer any reduction in remuneration.

9.11 Postal Technical Officer Level 4 – Salary Advancement Conditions

- 9.11.1 Advancement to the 4th, 5th, 6th and 7th salary points of the Postal Technical Officer 4 (PTO4) classification will be conditional on an employee obtaining a Certificate IV in Electrotechnology (Systems Electrician) or equivalent qualification recognised by Australia Post. Provided that a new PTO4 employee who possesses this qualification or equivalent qualification recognised by Australia Post will commence at the 4th salary point of the PTO4 salary range. A current PTO4 employee who obtains this qualification will advance to the 4th salary point from the date the employee obtains the qualification.
- 9.11.2 An employee will require a Diploma of Electrical Engineering or equivalent qualification recognised by Australia Post in order to advance to the maximum (8th salary point) of the PTO4 classification range. Provided that an employee who possesses this qualification or equivalent qualification will be eligible for accelerated advancement to the maximum of the PTO4 range on and from 1 July 2008 or from the date the employee obtains the relevant qualification, whichever is the later.

10. PAYMENT OF SALARIES

10.1 Fortnightly pay

Payment is to be made fortnightly, at the fortnightly equivalent of the annual rates prescribed.

10.2 Salary Payment Arrangements

All employees will have all salary payments paid through direct credit arrangements to a bank or financial institution.

10.3 Death of Employee

Where an employee dies, payment in lieu of annual leave including annual leave loading and outstanding salary may be made to the dependants of the employee, or, if the employee has no dependants, to the legal personal representative of the employee.

11. SUPPORTED WAGE SYSTEM

11.1 Definitions

This clause defines the conditions which will apply to employees who because of the

CI 16.3 GC of E

CI 16.1

GCof E

Att A CI 4

EBA 6

CI 18 GCof

effects of a disability are eligible for a supported wage under the terms of this agreement. In the context of this clause, the following definitions will apply:

- 11.1.1 **Supported Wage System** means the Commonwealth Government system to promote employment for people who cannot work at full award wages because of a disability, as documented in *Supported Wage System:*Guidelines and Assessment Process
- 11.1.2 **Accredited assessor** means a person accredited by the management unit established by the Commonwealth under the supported wage system to perform assessments of an individual's productive capacity within the supported wage system.
- 11.1.3 **Disability Support Pension** means the Commonwealth pension scheme to provide income security for persons with a disability as provided under the *Social Security Act 1991*, as amended from time to time, or any successor to that scheme.
- 11.1.4 **Assessment instrument** means the form provided for under the Supported Wage System that records the assessment of the productive capacity of the person to be employed under the supported wage system.

11.2 Eligibility Criteria

- 11.2.1 Employees covered by this clause will be those who are unable to perform the range of duties to the competence level required within the class of work for which the employee is engaged under this agreement, because of the effects of a disability on their productive capacity and who meet the impairment criteria for receipt of a disability support pension.
- 11.2.2 The clause does not apply to any existing employee who has a claim against Australia Post which is subject to the provisions of workers' compensation legislation or any provision of this agreement relating to the rehabilitation of employees who are injured in the course of their employment.
- 11.2.3 The clause does not apply to employers in respect of their facility, programme, undertaking, service or the like which receives funding under the *Disability Services Act 1986* and fulfils the dual role of service provider and sheltered employer to people with disabilities who are in receipt of or are eligible for a disability support pension, except with respect to an organisation which has received recognition under s.10 or s.12A of the *Disability Services Act*, or if a party only has received recognition, that part.

11.3 Entitlement

11.3.1 Supported Wage Rates

Employees to whom this clause applies shall be paid the applicable percentage of the minimum rate of pay prescribed by this agreement for the class of work which the person is performing according to the following

schedule:

Assessed Capacity	% of prescribed award rate
(11.4)	
10%	10%
20%	20%
30%	30%
40%	40%
50%	50%
60%	60%
70%	70%
80%	80%
90%	90%

- 11.3.2 Provided that the amount payable shall be not less than \$64 per week.
- 11.3.3 Where a person's assessed capacity is 10%, they shall receive a high degree of assistance and support.

11.4 Assessment of Capacity

For the purpose of establishing the percentage of the agreement rate to be paid to an employee under this agreement, the productive capacity of the employee will be assessed in accordance with the supported wage system and documented in an assessment instrument by either:

- 11.4.1 Australia Post and a union party to the agreement, in consultation with the employee or, if desired by any of these;
- 11.4.2 Australia Post and an accredited assessor from a panel agreed by the parties to the agreement and the employee.

11.5 Lodgement of Assessment Instrument

- 11.5.1 All assessment instruments under the conditions of this clause, including the appropriate percentage of the agreement wage to be paid to the employee, shall be lodged by Australia Post with the appropriate Authority.
- 11.5.2 All assessment instruments shall be agreed and signed by the parties to the assessment, provided that where requested by the employee, a union which is a party to the agreement, but is not a party to the assessment will have the assessment documents referred to the union by the Authority by certified mail, and the assessment will take effect unless an objection is notified to the Authority within ten working days.

11.6 Review of Assessment

The assessment of the applicable percentage should be subject to annual review or earlier on the basis of a reasonable request for such a review. The process of review shall be in accordance with the procedures for assessing capacity under the

Supported Wage System.

11.7 Other Terms and Conditions of Employment

Where an assessment has been made, the applicable percentage shall apply to the wage rate only. Employees covered by the provisions of the clause will be entitled to the same terms and conditions of employment as all other workers covered by this agreement paid on a pro rata basis.

11.8 Workplace Adjustment

Where Australia Post wishes to employ a person under the provisions of this clause, it shall take reasonable steps to make changes in the workplace to enhance the employee's capacity to do the job. Changes may involve the re-design of the job duties, working time arrangements and work organisation in consultation with other workers in the area.

11.9 Trial Period

- 11.9.1 In order for an adequate assessment of the employee's capacity to be made, Australia Post may employ a person under the provisions of this clause for a trial period not exceeding twelve weeks, except that in some cases additional work adjustment time (not exceeding four weeks) may be needed.
- 11.9.2 During that trial period the assessment of capacity shall be undertaken and the proposed wage rate for a continuing employment relationship shall be determined.
- 11.9.3 The amount payable to the employee during the trial period shall be \$56 per week or such greater amount as is agreed from time to time between the parties (taking into account the Department of Social Security income test free area for earnings) and inserted in this agreement.
- 11.9.4 Work trials should include induction or training as appropriate to the job being trialed.
- 11.9.5 Where Australia Post and the employee wish to establish a continuing employment relationship following the completion of the trial period, a further contract of employment shall be entered into based on the outcome of assessment under 11.3 Entitlement hereof.

12. ALLOWANCES

Allowances in this clause which are subject to the same percentage increases that apply to salary rates in accordance with this Agreement are specified at Attachment B (Clause 35.1.2 also refers).

12.1 Dirty cleaning work allowance

An employee required to perform cleaning work which in the opinion of the person in

CI 9.1 Ops

charge is of an unusually dirty or offensive nature will be paid an allowance whilst so employed at the relevant rate specified in the Australia Post Human Resources Manual Rates of Pay Booklet.

12.2 Divide allowance

12.2.1 Eligible classifications

CI 9.2 Ops

An employee employed in a classification of Postal Delivery Officer, Senior Postal Delivery Officer Grade 1, Senior Postal Delivery Officer Grade 2 or Senior Postal Delivery Officer Grade 3 who is utilised to deliver, in addition to one of the normal three rounds, a portion (being not less than 100 delivery points) of a round other than one of the normal three rounds, will be paid the divide allowance at the relevant rate specified in the Australia Post Human Resources Manual Rates of Pay Booklet.

12.2.2 Relief employee

A relief employee who is utilised to deliver a portion (being not less than 100 delivery points) of a round in addition to the round being delivered that day, will be paid the divide allowance prescribed in 12.2.1.

12.2.3 Trainee

A Trainee Postal Delivery Officer who is performing Postal Delivery Officer duties will be paid the divide allowance prescribed in 12.2.1.

12.3 Excess Fares

An employee on temporary duty away from the employee's head station shall be paid an allowance equal to any excess costs incurred in travelling between the employee's residence and the temporary station. CI 19.2 Gcof E

12.4 First Aid Allowance

CI 19.3 GC of E

Employees appointed as first aid attendants shall be paid an allowance at the relevant rate specified for the qualification held as set out in the Australia Post Human Resources Manual Rates of Pay Booklet.

Table 1 First Aid Allowance (12.4)

Standard	Qualification Held
Certificate Standard A	St John Ambulance Australia Senior First Aid Certificate Level 2 First Aid Certificate; or An equivalent qualification.
Certificate	St John Ambulance Australia Advanced

Re-examination First Aid Certificate/Level 3 First Aid Standard B Certificate: or Australian Red Cross Occupational First Aid Course Certificate; or An equivalent qualification. Medallion St John Ambulance Occupational First Aid / Level 4 First Aid Certificate: or An equivalent qualification. 12.5 Gladstone locality allowance An employee living and working in Gladstone, Queensland, in addition to all other remuneration except District Allowance, will be paid an allowance as follows: CI 9.3 Ops 12.5.1 Dependants \$700 per annum; 12.5.2 Without dependants \$360 per annum. 12.6 **Headquarters Relocation Allowance** An employee whose headquarters is transferred to a new location because of a change in the organisation or operations of Australia Post may be paid an allowance equivalent to the amount of excess fares paid or reasonable expenses incurred in travelling to and from the new location for a period of three months. The allowance is CI 19.4 GC not payable to an employee classified as Administrative Officer Level 6 or Postal of F Manager Level 3. 12.7 **Higher Duties Allowance** An employee who temporarily performs duties at a higher level will be paid an allowance as follows: 12.7.1 Payment Rate CI 19.5 GC of E if all of the duties of the higher level are performed, an amount to (a) raise salary to the rate that would have been received had the employee been promoted to the level; if only part of the duties of the higher level an amount commensurate (b) with the proportion of higher duties performed.

12.7.2 Allowance Regarded as Salary for Other Purposes

An allowance granted under this clause shall be regarded as salary for the purposes of calculating penalty payments and excess travelling time.

12.7.3 Minimum Period

An employee will not be paid a higher duties allowance for higher duties performed unless the period is more than 1 day nor do shorter periods count as service at the higher classification.

Att A CI 9 EBA 6

12.7.4 Payment During Leave

An employee in receipt of higher duties allowance who proceeds on paid leave shall continue to be paid the allowance during the leave if the allowance would have been paid but for the granting of leave.

12.8 In-charge allowance - retail employees

An employee employed as a Postal Services Officer or Senior Postal Services Officer Grade 1 who performs the in-charge supervisory role during extended trading hours at a retail facility will be paid an allowance to raise salary to the salary shown for this allowance in the Australia Post Human Resources Manual Rates of Pay Booklet.

CI 9.4 Ops

12.9 Industry Allowance

12.9.1 Eligibility

In addition to the agreed salary rate for the relevant classification, an employee, including an apprentice, performing the work of any of the classifications listed below in Table 1 and who is engaged on Construction Work (as defined), will be paid an Industry Allowance at the relevant rate shown in the Australia Post Human Resources Manual Rates of Pay Booklet to compensate for the following disabilities of the industry; namely, being subject to:

Cl 9.1 Tech Award

- (a) climatic conditions when working in the open on all types of work or on a multi-storey building prior to it being enclosed;
- the physical disadvantage of having to climb stairs or ladders, particularly on multi-storey buildings prior to an elevator being available;
- (c) dust blowing in the wind on building sites;
- (d) sloppy and muddy conditions associated with the initial stages of the erection of a building;
- (e) dirty conditions caused by the use of form oil or from green timber;

- (f) drippings from newly poured concrete;
- (g) the disability of working on all types of scaffolds other than a lightweight swinging scaffold; and
- (h) the lack of the usual amenities associated with factory work (e.g. meal rooms, change rooms, lockers etc).

12.9.2 Minimum Payment

An employee who is employed on Maintenance Work or Shop Work (as defined) and who is required to perform Construction Work (as defined) for more than 2 hours will be paid the Industry Allowance prescribed in 12.9.1 for the whole day.

12.9.3 Table 1 – Classifications Eligible for Industry Allowance

Apprentice

Postal Technical Officer Level 1

Postal Technical Officer Level 2

Postal Technical Officer Level 3

Postal Technical Officer Level 4

Postal Technical Officer Level 5

Postal Technical Officer Level 6

Postal Technical Officer Level 7

Trainee Tech Officer Eng removed from Table

12.9.4 Definitions

CL3.1 Tech

- (a) **Construction Work** means all work, wherever performed, other than that defined as Maintenance Work or Shop Work.
- (b) Maintenance Work means small carpentry, painting, sign writing, electrical, plumbing and small repair and renovation work in those respective trades.
- (c) Shop Work means any work performed in a workshop not located on an "on site" building project.

12.10 Miscellaneous Allowance

12.10.1 Custody Of Stock

Subject to the approval of Australia Post, a Postal Technical Officer Level 2 or Postal Technical Officer Level 3 who is held responsible for custody of stock, or is required by Australia Post to make inspections of material or to carry out other duties not ordinarily performed by a tradesperson, will be paid not less than the rate prescribed for the relevant classification at Item 5 or Item 6 at Attachment B of the Australia Post Human Resources Manual Rates of Pay

Cl 9.4 Tech

Booklet plus an allowance at the rate per annum prescribed at Item 7.

12.10.2 District Allowance

An employee who lives and works within a prescribed remote locality shall be paid a District Allowance as advised by the Department of Employment and Workplace Relations that reflects the conditions attached to the locality.

12.11 Overtime Meal Allowance

CI 29 Prin Det

- 12.11.1 An employee shall be paid an overtime meal allowance of \$14.50 when the employee is required to work at least:
 - (a) 1 hour of overtime continuous with ordinary duty. In determining whether or not an overtime attendance is continuous with ordinary duty, unpaid meal breaks are to be disregarded;

CI 19.8 GC of F

- (b) 5 hours overtime on a day the employee is not rostered for ordinary duty;
- (c) an additional 5 hours overtime on a day on which eligibility for payment of a first meal allowance has already been established under 12.11.1(a) or 12.11.1(b).
- 12.11.2 For a part-time employee, only duty which attracts an overtime penalty rate counts as overtime under 12.11.1 for the purpose of an overtime meal allowance.
- 12.11.3 Where a three course meal can be obtained by the employee at an Australia Post cafeteria, the overtime meal allowance payable is the maximum amount which can be charged for a three course meal.
- 12.11.4 An employee shall not be paid a meal allowance if it is not unreasonable that the employee returns home for a meal during the meal break.

12.12 Postal Delivery Officer Functional Allowance

An employee employed as Postal Delivery Officer, Senior Postal Delivery Officer Grade 2 (non-relief employee) or Senior Postal Delivery Officer Grade 3 who is utilised to deliver one or more rounds other than the normal 3 rounds will be paid the functional allowance specified in the Australia Post Human Resources Manual Rates of Pay Booklet.

12.13 Private Motor Vehicle Allowance

An employee who is authorised to use a private motor vehicle for official purposes or in circumstances in which Australia Post would otherwise meet the cost of the journey is entitled to be reimbursed reasonable expenses incurred in using the vehicle on that

CI 19.9 GC of E journey.

12.14 Qualifications Allowance

An employee on the minimum salary of an Administrative Officer Level 1 with the prescribed educational qualifications or keyboard skills will be paid an allowance to raise salary to the second salary point of the Administrative Officer Level 1 salary range.

Sch A Admin/Pro

12.15 Shoe Allowance for Retail Employees

With effect from 1 August 2007 retail employees who are eligible for and wear the corporate retail uniform are entitled to be reimbursed up to \$85 once per calendar year for the purchase of footwear. This amount is in lieu of the amount specified at Item C Schedule 3 of the Australia Post Principal Determination that would otherwise apply to retail employees.

CI 8.2 EBA

12.16 Special Rates – Technical Employees

12.16.1 Eligibility

CI 9.2 Tech

The special rates set out in this clause will apply to Technical employees covered by this agreement, other than a Postal Technical Officer Level 8 or Postal Technical Officer Level 9, for the disabilities prescribed below:

(a) Disability Allowance 1

An allowance is to be paid at the rate specified in the Australia Post Human Resources Manual Rates of Pay Booklet where an employee is required to work:

- (i) in conditions which are offensive or otherwise distressing, including being unusually dirty, wet or obnoxious to an extent greater than that which would normally be encountered; or
- (ii) for more than one hour in situations of extreme heat (> 46 Celsius) or extreme cold (< 0 Celsius) where the temperature has been raised or lowered artificially; or
- (iii) on all spray painting carried out in other than a properly constructed booth.

(b) Disability Allowance 2

An allowance is to be paid at the rate specified in the Australia Post Human Resources Manual Rates of Pay Booklet where an employee is required to work:

(i) with materials regarded as offensive (i.e. asbestos, hot bitumen/asphalt, and insulation materials such as insulwool,

pumice, etc); or

(ii) in confined spaces (i.e. a compartment or space which necessitates an employee working in a stooped or otherwise cramped position or without proper ventilation).

12.16.2 Special Rates Not Cumulative

Where more than one of the disabilities entitling an employee to extra rates exists on the same job, only one of the special rates is to be paid, namely, the highest for the disabilities so prevailing, with the exception of cold places, confined spaces, dirty work, height work, hot places or wet places, the rates for which are cumulative.

12.16.3 Penalty Payments and Special Rates

The allowances prescribed by this clause are to be paid irrespective of the times at which the work is performed, and are not subject to any premium or penalty additions.

12.16.4 Special Rates during Holidays and Leave

Special Rates are not payable during holidays, annual leave, sick leave or other approved leave.

12.17 Study Assistance

An employee who is approved by Australia Post as a student to undertake a course of study or a short course of instruction may be granted reimbursement in full or in part of fees incurred for the course.

CI 19.10 GC of E

12.18 Team Skill Loading

12.18.1 The team skills loading is payable at the rate specified in the Australia Post Human Resources Manual Rates of Pay Booklet to eligible employees in mail/parcel processing facilities which have implemented HPO Team based work arrangements. The loading is payable to eligible employees in team based arrangements when:

Att A CI 8 EBA 6 modified

- (a) They have successfully completed the relevant training;
- (b) Their team is undertaking the expanded roles and accountabilities.
- 12.18.2 Clause 33 outlines eligibility conditions for retention of team skill loading on transfer

12.19 Temporary Accommodation Allowance

An employee who has been transferred or promoted from one locality to another and who is unable to obtain suitable long-term accommodation at the new locality will be reimbursed for a reasonable period of time additional reasonable living expenses

CI 19.11 GC of E incurred in residing in temporary accommodation at the new location.

12.20 Tools and Protective Clothing

Where Australia Post requires an employee employed in a Technical Employee Classification to provide and use tools for the performance of duties and/or provide protective clothing while engaged on any duties where exposed to adverse weather conditions, Australia Post must reimburse the employee for the cost of purchasing such tools or clothing. The provisions of this clause will not apply where Australia Post supplies such items without cost to the employee.

Cl 9.3 Tech

12.21 Tonnage Allowance

An employee who is required to drive a motor vehicle of one of the types described in Table 2 below shall be paid, in addition to salary, an allowance at the relevant rate prescribed for the type of vehicle as specified in the Australia Post Human Resources Manual Rates of Pay Booklet for each day or portion thereof while the vehicle is driven on a public carriageway.

CI 19.12 GC of E

Table 2 Tonnage Allowance (12.19)

Vehicle Type

Light Rigid Vehicle (Trucks from 4.5 to 13.9 tonnes Gross Vehicle Mass)

Heavy Rigid Vehicle (Trucks exceeding 13.9 tonnes Gross Vehicle Mass)

Articulated Vehicle (Linehaul, wharf work and heavy rigid/dog trailer combinations)

Road Train (B Double combinations)

12.22 Transfer Costs

12.22.1 Eligibility

CI 19.13 GC of E

This clause applies to an employee who is transferred from one locality to another:

- (a) in the interest of Australia Post; or
- (b) in the ordinary course of promotion; or

- (c) on account of illness of such a nature as to justify the transfer; or
- after a residence of three or more years in a prescribed isolated (d) locality or a locality where climatic conditions are severe; or
- to fill a vacancy in a prescribed isolated locality or a locality where (e) climatic conditions are severe; and
- (f) the transfer necessitates a change in residence.

12.22.2 Entitlement

An employee to whom this clause applies is entitled to have paid by Australia Post:

- (a) the reasonable cost of conveyance of the employee and the employee's dependants; and
- (b) the cost reasonably incurred by the employee in removing furniture and household effects and those of the employee's dependants, from the locality at which the employee resided immediately before the transfer to the new locality.
- Reimbursement of prescribed reasonable legal and other costs (c) associated with the sale of the employee's principal private residence at the former location and the purchase of a residence at the new location.

Det

12.23 Travelling Allowance

12.23.1 Overnight Absence

An employee who is required to be away overnight is entitled to be paid an allowance for reasonable expenses for accommodation, meals and incidental costs whilst:

- travelling on duty; (a)
- (b) travelling to a new location to take up duty on promotion or transfer in Australia Post's interests:
- carrying out duties at another place by direction of an authorised (c) manager/supervisor.

12.23.2 Part-day Absence

An employee who is required to be on duty away from the employee's headquarters or temporary headquarters for more than 10 hours but the absence does not extend overnight is eligible to be paid an allowance for additional reasonable expenses incurred other than for travel. Payment of the CI 28 Prin

CI 19.14 GC of F

allowance is subject to the following conditions:

- (a) no other cost re-imbursement allowance is payable in respect of the absence (for example Overtime Meal Allowance); and
- (b) the allowance is not payable whilst an employee whose normal duties require the employee to be absent from the headstation or temporary headstation is performing normal duties.

13. DEDUCTIONS FROM SALARIES OF RENT FOR RESIDENCE

CI 20 GC of

13.1 Supervision of Property

If an employee resides in a building which is owned or leased by Australia Post, and the employee has an incidental obligation of supervision or control over personnel or property, Australia Post has the right to direct that rent be charged and deducted from the employee's salary. The amount of rent charged must be fair and reasonable, not exceeding 10 per cent of the lowest total agreement rate for the employee's classification.

14. HOURS OF DUTY

14.1 Specific provisions - Operational Employees

CI 10.1 Ops

- 14.1.1 Except as otherwise provided, the ordinary hours of duty of employees will be 36.75 per week over a cycle of shifts.
- 14.1.2 Except as otherwise provided in this clause, the daily hours of ordinary duty will not exceed 7 hours 21 minutes except where work is performed with a reduced number of attendances, in which case the daily hours of ordinary duty will not exceed 8 hours 10 minutes.

14.1.3 Retail employees

CI 10.2 Ops

The ordinary hours of duty of retail employees will be 36.75 per week Monday to Friday, provided that:

- (a) Australia Post will be permitted to roster employees for weekend duty and other than within the limits of 8.00 a.m. and 6.00 p.m.;
- (b) no employee will be rostered for ordinary duty on more than five days in any seven day period;
- (c) an employee rostered for ordinary duty between 6.30 a.m. and 8.00 a.m. Monday to Friday will receive a penalty of 50% of their ordinary rate for the time worked between those hours;
- (d) an employee may, with Australia Post's agreement, work a reduced number of attendances over a cycle of weeks, provided that the hours of duty over those weeks will average 36.75 hours per week.

CI 10.3 14.1.4 Postal delivery officers 2aO Subject to 14.1.4(b) and 14.1.4(c), the ordinary hours of duty of Postal (a) Delivery employees will be 36.75 per week to be worked eight hours on Monday, seven hours on Tuesday, Wednesday and Thursday and 7.75 hours on Friday. (b) Where operational requirements necessitate the working of an eight hour or 7.75 hour day regularly on any day other than Monday or Friday respectively, that day may be substituted for the Monday or Friday specified in 14.1.4(a). (c) Where an employee was employed as a Postal Sorting Officer immediately prior to the incorporation of this classification in the Postal Delivery Officer classification, and the daily hours of ordinary duty were 7 hours and 21 minutes, such ordinary hours of duty will be retained. CI 8 1 Admin 14.2 Specific provisions – Administrative / Professional Employees 14.2.1 Non-Shiftworkers The ordinary hours of duty of employees, other than shiftworkers, shall be 36.75 hours per week to be worked Monday to Friday within the limits of 8.1.1 8.00am and 6.00pm. Admin 14.2.2 Reduced Attendances Where Australia Post agrees that an employee may work a reduced number of 8.1.2 attendances over a cycle of weeks, the hours of duty over those weeks shall Admin average 36.75 hours per week. 14.2.3 Flexible Hours The Flexible Working Hours Scheme shall be made available to employees where work routines are not entirely dependent on customer/work flows or operational requirements. The operation of the Scheme shall take account of the operation and (a) business needs of Australia Post and its employees. These needs will still allow employees to have significant control over their starting and finishing times. (b) The Flexible Working Hours Scheme will operate consistent with the provisions of this clause, containing arrangements for the standard day, span of hours in accordance with 14.2.1 above and clause 14.4, and including matters dealing with core times, settlement period, flex periods, flex credits and debits, and core time leave. The times of commencement and cessation of duty, including meal (c)

breaks, will be subject to agreement between the manager and the employee. An employee's attendance outside the hours of a standard day but within the span of hours will be subject to the availability of work and the approval of the employee's manager.

(d) Definitions:

- (i) Standard day, for the purpose of flextime, is 7 hours and 21 minutes per day;
- (ii) Core time means the periods during the day when an employee will perform ordinary duty unless absent on approved leave or core time leave;
- (iii) Settlement period means the ordinary working days over which calculations are made to determine flex credit or flex debit carry over;
- (iv) Flex period means the periods during the day when an employees hours of duty and times of attendance may be varied;
- (v) Flex credit means the accumulated amount of time worked by an employee in excess of the standard days in the settlement period, including any carry over, but does not include time worked as overtime;
- (vi) Flex debit means the difference between the sum of the standard days in a settlement period and the aggregate amount of time worked by an employee where the total time worked is less than the sum of the standard days in the settlement period after any necessary adjustment has been made for any absence on approved leave and includes any carry over;
- (vii) Core time leave means any approved absence during core time other than approved leave, and may be used for up to a maximum of two full core times during the settlement period.

8 2 Admin

14.2.4 Shiftworkers

The ordinary hours of duty of employees required to work shift duty shall not exceed 36.75 per week or an average of 36.75 over a cycle of shifts.

CI 10.1 Tech

14.3 Specific provisions - Technical Employees

14.3.1 Non-shiftworkers

In the case of employees other than shift workers, the hours of duty, exclusive of meal breaks, will not exceed 36.75 per week made up of 7 hours 21 minutes per day Monday to Friday, within the limits of 7.00 a.m. and 6.00

p.m.

(a) Reduced Attendances

Where work is performed with a reduced number of attendances, the hours of duty, exclusive of meal breaks, will not exceed an average of 36.75 per week made up of a maximum of 8 hours 10 minutes per day Monday to Friday within the limits of 7.00 a.m. and 6.00 p.m..

14.3.2 Shiftworkers

CI 10.2 Tech

For employees whose duties do not permit the working of straight day duty as shown in 14.3.1, the following shift conditions will apply:

(a) Hours of Duty

The hours of duty will be an average of 36.75 per week over a cycle of shifts. A reduced number of attendances may be worked in the cycle of shifts.

(b) Maximum Hours

The maximum period of ordinary duty on any day, except Saturday, will be 9 hours. On Saturdays, the maximum period of ordinary duty will be 10 hours.

(c) Minimum Hours

The minimum period of ordinary duty will be 7 hours.

(d) Relief Duty

Employees rostered for the relief of other employees absent on approved leave or employees rostered off duty in lieu of Sunday duty will be employed on straight day duty when not required for relief duty.

(e) Penalty Shift

Any shift that falls within the 6.00 p.m. - 6.30 a.m. bandwidth (in whole or part) or on weekends or public holidays.

(f) Night Shift

Any shift which falls wholly within the 6.00 p.m.- 8.00 a.m. bandwidth.

14.3.3 Facilitative Arrangements

In cases where the provisions of this clause do not fully satisfy either operational or social needs of employees, the provisions of this clause may be

Insert classificati ons that this varied by mutual agreement between Australia Post and the majority of employees affected by the change. This clause overrides the facilitative provisions at clause 14.4.

applies to

14.3.4 Meal Break

CI 10.3 Tech

No employee will be required to work for a continuous period of more than five hours without a meal break of one hour, except where by mutual agreement between the majority of the employees at any station and Australia Post a meal break of not less than 30 minutes is arranged. Where an employee is engaged on shift duty, the employee may be required to remain in attendance during the shift break subject to the following conditions:

- (a) where the meal break is rostered as duty, no additional payment will be made;
- (b) where the meal break is not rostered as duty, additional payment will be made at the employee's ordinary rate of pay for the meal break.Where an employee is called upon to work during the meal break, overtime rates will be paid for the whole of the meal break.

Cl 10.4 Tech

14.3.5 Unusual conditions

Where an employee works for more than one hour during normal rostered hours in circumstances or locations where, in the opinion of the supervisor, the work is unusually cramped, distressing or unhealthy, e.g.:

- In a tunnel
- Under floors
- In lift wells
- On overhead equipment close to ceilings
- Inside and under mail processing equipment
- Behind switchboards, etc;

The hours of duty for that day will be reduced by 30 minutes. Where such a reduction occurs, the normal hours of duty on other days will not be increased.

Cl 11 Tech

14.3.6 Overtime

Payment for overtime will be subject to the conditions prescribed in clause 15. The exception is, however, that an employee will be paid at the rate of double time for all overtime duty performed between 11.00 pm on one day and 7.00 am on the next day.

CI 21.2 GC of E

14.4 Hours of Duty Facilitative Provisions

Specific hours of duty provisions can be varied by agreement with either the majority of employees or on the basis of individual agreement in the following manner:

- 14.4.1 The ordinary hours of duty of employees shall not exceed 36.75 hours per week or an average thereof provided that the weekly hours for day workers may be averaged over a cycle of no longer than 4 weeks.
- 14.4.2 The ordinary hours of day workers may be between the hours of 6.30 a.m. and 6.00 p.m.
- 14.4.3 Ordinary hours of duty shall be worked on an average of no more than 5 attendances per week over a cycle.
- 14.4.4 Ordinary hours of duty on any one day may be between six and ten hours.

CI 21.3 GC of E

14.5 Part-time Employees

14.5.1 Continuous Duty

The ordinary hours of duty of part-time employees shall be continuous on any one day. An unpaid meal break shall not be regarded as breaking continuity of duty.

14.5.2 Hours Specified

At the time of engagement, Australia Post and the part-time employee will agree in writing, on a regular pattern of work, specifying at least the hours worked each day, which days of the week the employee will work, or, where appropriate, the number of shifts in the cycle and the actual starting and finishing times each day/shift.

14.5.3 Hours Varied

Subject to 14.5.4 and 14.5.5, the hours of duty of part-time employees may be varied to meet Australia Post's operating requirements, following consultation with the employee and having regard to the needs of the employee. Any variations will be recorded in writing. Family responsibilities of part-time employees are to be considered when varying hours of duty.

14.5.4 Notice

Part-time employees must be given a reasonable period of notice of a variation of hours of duty. Where a reduction in hours will occur, no part-time employee shall be given less than three months notice of a reduction in hours unless the employee agrees to a shorter period.

14.5.5 Initiated by Employee

Where the permanent part-time employment arrangement was initiated by the employee, the hours of duty can only be varied during the period for which the arrangement was approved, with the consent of the employee. However if the arrangement extends beyond 12 months, the hours of duty may be varied after 12 months in accordance with 14.5.3.

CI 6.20 EBA 6

Review Process: Part-Time Employees

CI 6.21 FBA 6

- 14.6 Australia Post acknowledges that the rostered hours of part-time staff should match the underlying ordinary hours of the position, ie, the hours worked on a regular predictable basis in a manner consistent with the relevant hours of duty provisions in this Agreement.
 - 14.6.1 Australia Post will continue the following arrangements:
 - (a) employees will have a right to seek a review of their current hours against the above principle (refer clause 14.6) including providing appropriate supporting reasons, and have the right to request union involvement in that process;
 - (b) factors to be considered in the review process shall be the hours of duty worked over the previous twelve months (or since the employee started in the position, whichever is the lesser period) and known business/operational changes in the next six months;
 - (c) the review shall be documented (in accordance with the standard pro forma developed at the national level);
 - (d) Australia Post's employment monitoring arrangements shall include data on the extent of additional hours being worked by part-time employees; and

CI 6.22 EBA 6

- (e) Employees will not be discriminated against or disadvantaged because they have sought a review of their current hours.
- 14.6.2 Australia Post agrees to provide relevant information and explain and support the reasons why it reached the decision that it did, at the time that the employee is informed of the decision. Where an employee disagrees with the outcome of the review the employee may elect to take the matter through the Dispute Resolution Procedure, in lieu of the Grievance Process.

CI 6.23 FBA 6

14.7 Part-Time Employees – Minimum Hours

14.7.1 Australia Post, its employees and unions support the principle that part time positions should not be less than three hours per engagement. There will, however, be circumstances where the application of this principle may result in arrangements which are not practicable and/or there is no other available work. Where this circumstances arises:

(a)	in respect of new positions, the parties agree to consultation prior to
	the creation and staffing of such a position, including appropriate
	consideration of alternative work arrangements which would meet
	the minimum hours principle; and

CI 6.24 EBA 6

in respect of existing individual part time positions which do not (b) conform with the principle, these will be reviewed when they next become vacant.

14.7.2 The parties agree that the minimum hours principle will be applied as follows:

(a) existing part time arrangements will not be reduced on the basis of this clause; and

CI 21.4 GC of E

any proposals to vary the level of rostered hours of a number of part (b) time positions on a shift will be subject to consultation with the unions at State level and with the staff concerned.

14.8 Make Up Time

An employee may elect, with the consent of Australia Post, to work make up time under which the employee takes time off ordinary hours, and works the time taken off at a later time, during the spread of ordinary hours applicable to the employee, at ordinary rates.

CI 21.5 GC of E

14.9 Meal Break

An employee shall not be employed for more than 5 hours continuously without being granted a meal break of not less than 30 minutes nor more than 75 minutes, provided that:

- 14.9.1 by agreement between Australia Post and an employee or a majority of employees in the workplace concerned a longer period for the meal break may be arranged;
- 14.9.2 by agreement between Australia Post and an employee, the employee concerned may work in excess of 5 hours but not more than 6 hours without a meal break.
- 14.9.3 However, where an employee is required to work in excess of 5 hours on any day or shift, a meal break must be granted.

CI 8.5 FBA6 amended

14.10 Tea Break

Australia Post commits to maintaining tea break arrangements that apply at individual workplaces in accordance with custom and practice. Australia Post, however, may vary the time at which a tea break is taken at a workplace where such a variation is operationally required. Australia Post may also vary the length of a tea break at a workplace where the length of the break at that workplace is inconsistent with tea break arrangements applicable at other workplaces within the same operational

stream in Australia Post and where current arrangements are not based on operational considerations limited to that particular facility. Provided that ongoing changes to the length of tea breaks would be regarded as significant change for the purposes of Clause 29 (Employee Consultation) and would involve a process to determine the view of staff.

CI 22 1GC of F

15.1 General Conditions

15.1.1 Reasonable Overtime

- (a) Subject to clause 15.1.1(b) Australia Post may require an employee to work reasonable overtime in accordance with the provisions of this clause.
- (b) Provided that this subclause does not apply to employees employed in accordance with the provision of clause 21.11 (Parental Leave Right to request)
- (c) An employee may refuse to work overtime in circumstances where the working of such overtime would result in the employee working hours which are unreasonable having regard to:
 - (i) any risk to employee health and safety;
 - (ii) the employee's personal circumstances including any family responsibilities;
 - (iii) the needs of the workplace or enterprise;
 - (iv) the notice (if any) given by the employer of the overtime and by the employee of his or her intention to refuse it; and
 - (v) any other relevant matter.

15.1.2 Salary

An employee's salary for the purpose of computation of overtime includes higher duties allowance and any other allowance in the nature of salary.

15.1.3 Hourly Overtime Rate

(a) The hourly rate for overtime payment is ascertained by the following formula:

$$(A \div 313 \times 6 \div 36.75) \times P$$

Where:

- A is the annual salary; and
- P is the prescribed rate.
- (b) For the purpose of 15.1.3(a), the prescribed rates (P) for overtime

duty are:

- (i) Monday to Friday 150% for first 3 hours and 200% thereafter
- (ii) on public holidays 250%;
- (iii) on Sundays 200%; and
- (iv) on Saturdays -
 - for non-shiftworkers 150% for the first three hours and 200% thereafter; and
 - for shiftworkers 200%;
- (c) For the purpose of this clause, a **shiftworker** means an employee who is rostered on:
 - (i) alternating or rotating shifts or a constant shift involving regular ordinary duty after 1.00 p.m. on Saturday; or
 - (ii) a shift which, but for it being worked continuously with the approval of Australia Post or to suit Australia Post's convenience, would fall within 15.1.3(c)(i).

15.1.4 Part Time Employees

- (a) Part-time employees are eligible for overtime penalty rates applicable to full-time employees in the following circumstances:
 - (i) duty in excess of 7 hours 21 minutes on any one day;
 - (ii) where an employee is required to work on more than 5 days per week.
- (b) Duty in excess of normal requirements but which does not attract a penalty under 15.1.4(a) will be paid at the rate applicable to ordinary duty on that day.

15.1.5 Sunday Duty - Day Off In Lieu

Where an employee, who has been required to perform in addition to the prescribed hours of duty for the week, a full day's duty on Sunday, wherever practicable, is to be granted a day off during the 6 days succeeding that Sunday and, in such cases, the payment for Sunday attendance is one day's pay instead of the Sunday overtime rate.

15.1.6 Employees Ineligible for Overtime

Employees being paid at the level of Administrative Officer 6 or Postal

Manager Grade 3 are not eligible to receive overtime payments or time off in lieu

15.2 Overtime - Time Off Instead of Payment

CI 22.2 GC of E

15.2.1 Time Off Instead of Overtime Payment

By mutual agreement between Australia Post and an individual employee, time off during ordinary working hours is allowed instead of payment for overtime under this Agreement. Such agreement is to be made in writing.

15.2.2 Amount of Time Off

- (a) Time off instead of payment for overtime is based on the number of ordinary hours equivalent to the appropriate overtime rates for the hours worked.
- (b) By mutual agreement between Australia Post and the individual employee, the employee may be paid at ordinary rates for the time worked and take time off equivalent to the rate of the residual penalty payment.

15.2.3 Timing of Time Off

- (a) Time off instead of payment for overtime is to be granted and taken as agreed between Australia Post and the employee and within agreed time frames.
- (b) Where it is not practicable for time off to be granted or taken within the agreed time frame, the employee is to be paid for the overtime worked at the prescribed rate of payment.

15.2.4 Eligibility

Time off instead of payment for overtime only applies to employees who are eligible to receive overtime payments in accordance with 15.1.

15.3 Minimum Overtime Payment

CI 22.3 GC of F

15.3.1 Four Hour Minimum

Subject to this clause, where an employee is required to perform overtime duty, and such duty is not continuous with ordinary duty, the minimum overtime payment payable for each separate overtime attendance is for four hours at the prescribed overtime rate. An exception to the minimum overtime payment payable applies to a part-time employee whose ordinary hours of duty for that day are less than four hours, in which case the minimum extra payment is the prescribed ordinary hours of duty for that day.

15.3.2 Meal Breaks Disregarded

For the purpose of this clause, meal breaks are disregarded.

15.3.3 Duty after Midnight

Where an overtime attendance not continuous with ordinary duty, involves duty both before and after midnight, it is regarded as one attendance for minimum payment purposes. Where a higher overtime rate applies on one of the days, the minimum payment is calculated at the higher rate.

15.3.4 Restriction

An employee, who is required to remain contactable and available to perform duty outside ordinary hours of duty and is required to actually perform such duty, is paid overtime in accordance with this clause subject to the following minimum payments:

- (a) where not recalled to the work place, a minimum payment of one hour applies; and
- (b) where recalled to the workplace, a minimum payment of three hours applies.
- (c) Provided that where duty is performed more than once, the minimum overtime payment provisions of 15.3.4(a) and 15.3.4(b) do not operate to increase an employee's overtime remuneration beyond that which would have been received had the employee remained on duty from the commencing time of duty on one attendance to the ceasing time of duty on a subsequent attendance.

15.3.5 Overtime to Restore Essential Services

- (a) An employee may be required to perform duty away from the normal work place outside ordinary hours of duty in order to restore essential services in emergency circumstances either by using a remote computer terminal or by providing technical advice over the telephone.
- (b) Where an employee performs duty in accordance with 15.3.5(a), the provisions in 15.3.4 apply.

CI 22.4 GC of F

15.4 Rest Relief after Overtime

15.4.1 10 Hour Break

(a) An employee, after the completion of overtime and ordinary duty on one day/shift, must be given at least 10 consecutive hours off duty, including travelling time, before resuming any duty on the next day/shift. Any absence during ordinary working time which occurs within the 10 hours will be without loss of salary.

(b) Provided that if such an employee is required by Australia Post to resume or continue work without having had 10 consecutive hours off duty the employee is to be paid at double rates until released from duty for that period, and will then be entitled to be absent for 10 consecutive hours off duty, without loss of pay for ordinary working time occurring during that absence.

CI 25.5 GC of F

15.4.2 Eligibility

The rest relief after overtime provisions 15.4 apply only to employees who are eligible for overtime payment.

15.5 Emergency Duty

15.5.1 Eligibility

Where an employee is called on duty to meet an emergency at a time when the employee would not ordinarily have been on duty, and no notice of such call was given prior to ceasing duty, the employee shall be paid for such emergency duty at the rate of 200%.

15.5.2 Travel Time Included

The time for which payment shall be made shall include time necessarily spent in travelling to and from duty.

15.5.3 Minimum Payment

The minimum overtime payment provisions in 15.3 do not apply to emergency duty. The minimum payment for emergency duty shall be for 2 hours at 200%.

15.5.4 Rest Relief

The rest relief after overtime provisions 15.4.1 apply to overtime worked in the circumstances covered by emergency duty 15.5 only where the actual time worked (excluding travelling time) is at least two hours on each call.

CI 22.6 GC of F

15.6 Restriction Duty

15.6.1 Restriction Direction

Australia Post may direct an employee to be contactable and available to perform extra duty outside the employee's ordinary hours of duty, subject to payment under this sub-clause.

15.6.2 Eligibility for Payment

Payment will be subject to the following conditions:

- (a) except with the approval of Australia Post, employees employed in classifications of Administrative Officer Level 6 or Postal Manager Grade 3 are not eligible to receive payment;
- (b) the provisions of 15.5 will not apply where an employee is recalled to duty while restricted.

15.6.3 Rate of Payment

An employee who is required to remain contactable and available to perform extra duty outside the employee's ordinary hours of duty will, subject to 15.6.2, be paid an allowance:

- (a) at a rate of 7.5% of the employee's hourly rate of salary for each hour restricted Monday to Friday;
- (b) at a rate of 10% of the employee's hourly rate of salary for each hour restricted Saturday and Sunday;
- (c) at a rate of 15% of the employee's hourly rate of salary for each hour restricted on public holidays and rostered days off;
- (d) a rostered day off in this clause is a day which has been accrued by an employee on a Reduced Attendance Roster and is not a day off that is rostered for a shift worker as part of the pattern of work.

15.6.4 Salary

An employee's salary for the purpose of calculation of the allowance under 15.6.3 includes:

- (a) higher duties allowance; or
- (b) the normal salary applicable to the position, the occupant of which is required to be restricted, whichever is the higher; and
- (c) any other allowances in the nature of salary.

15.6.5 Calculation

The hourly rate of payment will be calculated as follows:

15.6.6 Part Hour

The allowance payable under this sub-clause is payable for each hour or part hour during which the employee is restricted outside the employee's ordinary

hours of duty.

15.6.7 No Concurrent Payment

Any part of a period of restriction for which the employee receives another payment, for example a period when overtime or excess travelling time payments are made, will not be included in the period of restriction for calculating payments under 15.6.3.

15.6.8 Excess Travelling Time

The provisions of clause 16 - Excess Travelling Time apply to an employee who is in a restriction situation for travelling time involved in a recall to duty. Where an employee in a restriction situation is not eligible for Excess Travelling Time for the time spent in travelling for a recall to duty, the relevant restriction allowance payable under 15.6.3 will be paid for the time spent in travelling.

16.	EXCESS TRAVELLING TIME					
16.1	Excess	CI 23 GCof E				
		ployee who is travelling or on duty away from the employee's head station will d for the time necessarily spent in travel or on duty (exclusive of overtime duty) ess of:	CI 23.1 GC of E			
	16.1.1	the employee's usual hours of duty for the day; and				
	16.1.2	the time necessarily spent between departing from home and commencing duty at the employee's head station and the time necessarily spent between ceasing duty at the head station and arrival at home.				
16.2	Minim	um Time	CI 23.2 GC			
	Payment will not be made unless the excess time is more than:					
	16.2.1	0.5 hour in any 1 day; or				
	16.2.2	2.5 hours in any pay period in the case of an employee whose ordinary hours are confined to 5 days of the week; or				
	16.2.3	in the case of a part-time employee who works on less than 5 days per week, an amount of time in any pay period determined by multiplying the number of days worked each pay period by 15 minutes. For example: if a part-time employee works 4 days per week, excess travelling time would not be payable under this provision unless the excess time is more than 2 hours in a pay period determined by multiplying 8 days worked each pay period by 15 minutes.				
16.3	Maxim	Maximum Time				
	Payment will not be made for more than 5 hours in any one day.		of E			
16.4	Rate	Rate				
	The rate of payment is:					
	16.4.1	Mondays to Saturdays - single time; and				
	16.4.2	Sundays and Public Holidays - single time and one half.				
16.5	Headstation					
	The term head station for the purpose of this clause means:					
	16.5.1 Fixed Place of Work					
		For employees who are required ordinarily to work day by day at the same fixed place for work - the place so fixed by Australia Post; and				

16.5.2 Variable Place of Work

For employees whose place of work is variable within a specified district - a place within the district fixed by Australia Post and advised in writing to the employee.

16.6 Travelling Time

Travelling time includes:

16.6.1 Waiting Time for Public Transport

The time during which an employee has to wait for change of trains or other scheduled conveyance and/or trains or other scheduled conveyance between the advertised and actual time of departure;

16.6.2 Waiting Time at Work Scene

In the case of an employee not absent from the permanent or temporary head station overnight, the time spent by that employee outside the usual hours of duty for the day in waiting between the time of arrival at the scene of work and the time of commencement of work, and/or between the time of ceasing work and the time of departure of the first available train or other means of conveyance; and

16.6.3 Travelling Time on Transfer

Time spent in travelling on transfer in all cases where transfer expenses are allowed except where the transfer involves promotion which carries increased pay.

16.6.4 Travelling Time Does Not Include:

- (a) time of travelling in which an employee is required to perform any duty while travelling or walking, or cycle or drive a vehicle in which cases the time spent on such activities is regarded as duty; and
- (b) time of travelling by train between 10.30 p.m. and 7 a.m. where a sleeping berth is provided on the train, or any time of travelling (day and night) by train from one capital city to another where a sleeping berth is provided.

16.7 Employee Required to Work within a District

An employee may be required to work at any place within a district and may be required to proceed direct to that place of work without proceeding to the head station. If the time necessarily spent by an employee in proceeding direct to and returning from such a place of work establishes a claim for payment for excess travelling time, it shall be dealt with under the general provisions of this clause.

CI 23.7 GC of E

of F

CI 23.6 GC

16.8	Eligibility		
	An employee being paid at a level of Administrative Officer 6 or Postal Manager Grade 3 is not entitled to payment for excess travelling time.	of E	
16.9	Meaning of a Day A day means from midnight to midnight.		
16.10	Excess Fares		
	If an employee incurs excess fares in travelling to and/or from a temporary station, refer to clause 12.3.		

17. SHIFT WORK

CI 24 GC of E

17.1 Shift Penalties

CI 24.1 GC of E

17.1.1 Ordinary Duty Between 6 p.m. and 6.30 a.m.

An employee who is rostered to perform and performs ordinary duty on a shift, any part of which falls between the hours of 6 p.m. and 6.30 a.m., will be paid an additional 15% of salary for that shift.

17.1.2 Ordinary Duty Wholly Between 6 p.m. and 8 a.m.

A full-time employee, who is required to work ordinary hours continuously for a period exceeding 4 weeks on a shift falling wholly within the hours of 6pm and 8am, shall be paid an additional 30% of salary for that shift.

17.1.3 Part-time Employees

- (a) A part-time employee who is required to work ordinary hours for a period exceeding 4 weeks on a shift falling wholly within the hours of 9.00pm and 6.30am, shall be paid an additional 30% of salary for that shift.
- (b) A 30% shift penalty will apply to a part time employee where the employee's rostered shift hours exceed 4 weeks and the shift commences between midnight and 4.00 a.m, and finishes before 8.00 a.m. Clause 17.1.3(a) continues to apply in other circumstances.

CI 8.4 EBA

17.1.4 Saturday Ordinary Duty

For all rostered time of ordinary duty performed between midnight on Friday and midnight on Saturday, an employee shall be paid at the rate of 50% additional to the ordinary rate of pay.

17.1.5 Sunday Ordinary Duty

For all rostered time of ordinary duty performed between midnight on Saturday and midnight on Sunday, an employee shall be paid at the rate of single time additional to the ordinary rate of pay.

17.1.6 Public Holiday Duty

Subject to this clause, for duty which is not in excess of the prescribed weekly hours on a day which is a public holiday in accordance with clause 26 - Public Holidays, an employee shall be paid an extra payment at the rate of time and a half for the actual time worked on the holiday. However, except with the approval of Australia Post, an employee being paid at a level of Administrative Officer Level 6 or Postal Manager Grade 3 is not eligible for payment under this paragraph other than for rostered duty.

17.2	Payments Stand Alone								
	The additional payments prescribed by this clause will not be taken into account in the computation of overtime or in the determination of any allowance based upon salary, nor will they be paid with respect to any shift for which any other form of penalty payment is made under this award.								
17.3	Payme	Payment During Training Courses							
	Shift penalties prescribed by 17.1 will be paid during attendance at a management initiated training course or other approved training in relation to Occupational Health and Safety for any shifts which an employee would have performed but for attendance at the course.								
17.4	Payment During Annual Leave								
	Shift penalty payments will be made in respect of any duty (other than on Public Holidays) which an employee would have performed had the employee not been on approved annual leave, subject to the conditions specified in 18.9 Leave Loading.								
17.5	Exchange Of Shifts / Substitute Employee								
	17.5.1	Exchar	nge of Shifts	CI 24.5 GC					
			ployee is allowed to exchange duties or shifts or days off, or to perform another employee, with the approval of the manager.	of E					
	17.5.2	Substit	tute Employee						
			ployee who has conscientious scruples against attending for duty on a religious observance may apply for permission to furnish a substitute yee.						
	17.5.3	Shift T	rafficking	Cl 26 of					
		(a)	Trafficking in shift exchanges is prohibited. Any employee who demands or accepts, by demand or arrangement, money or any other form of benefit in kind for arranging exchange of shifts, duties or days off will be instantly dismissed.	Prin Det					
		(b)	Any supervisor or manager who knowingly condones any of the prohibited exchange activities outlined in subclause (a) will also be dismissed.						
17.6	Stretch Of Shift								
	17.6.1	hours i	yees whose ordinary hours of duty, broken or unbroken, exceeds 10 in the case of Mail Officers, or 12 hours in the case of other employees e paid at ordinary rates of pay, in addition to salary, (but not in addition time) for all time actually worked beyond the said period of 10 or 12	of E					

hours as the case may be.

17.6.2 Provided that in cases where Postal Delivery Officers begin work before 6am and their stretch of shift exceeds 11 hours, the additional payment shall be made in respect of all time actually worked in excess of the said 11 hours.

17.7 Interval Between Shifts

CI 24.7 GC of E

- 17.7.1 Shifts shall be arranged so that an employee has a minimum break of 10 hours continuously off duty between shifts:
- 17.7.2 Provided that this clause will not operate in cases of emergency certified by the officer-in-charge and notified to the employees concerned by posting up the same in some convenient place, nor in cases of regular change over of shifts.

CI 24.8 GC of E

17.8 Duty On A Public Holiday

17.8.1 Minimum Payment

The minimum extra payment payable for ordinary duty on a public holiday for each separate attendance will be for four hours. The exceptions to this are where employees are in any restriction situation, when the minimum extra payment will be for 3 hours; or where employees are part-time and the prescribed normal hours of duty for that day are less than 4 hours, in which case the minimum extra payment is the prescribed hours. Where more than one attendance is involved, the minimum payment provisions payable under this clause will not exceed the amount that would have been payable if the employee had remained on duty from the commencing time of duty on the previous attendance to the ceasing time of duty on a subsequent attendance.

- (a) For the purposes of 17.8.1:
 - (i) duty broken by a meal period shall not constitute more than one attendance: and
 - (ii) the minimum extra payment shall not be applicable to holiday ordinary duty which, disregarding meal periods, is continuous with ordinary duty occurring on the day preceding or on the day succeeding the holiday.

17.8.2 Day Off Instead of Holiday

A seven day shift worker who is rostered off duty on a public holiday will be granted a day's leave in lieu of that holiday within one month, if practicable, after the holiday or paid one day's pay at ordinary rates.

17.8.3 Christmas and Substitute Holiday

Where 25 December falls on a Saturday or Sunday and another day is provided as a substitute holiday under the provisions of 26.2.1, an employee

who works on both 25 December and the substitute day will only be paid at the holiday rate for duty on 25 December. The payment for duty on the substitute day will be in accordance with Clause 17.1.4 - Saturday Ordinary Duty, 17.1.5 - Sunday Ordinary Duty or 15.1 Overtime - General Conditions, as appropriate.

17.9 Delivery – Penalty Shifts

17.9.1 Delivery Assurances

No permanent Delivery employee currently working a shift that attracts a 15% penalty will lose his/her shift penalty by being forced to change nominal shift start times. Delivery employees on transfer lists will also be able to retain their 15% shift penalty on transfer to a vacant penalty position at another delivery work location subject to the following conditions:

- (a) Employees must have been in receipt of a 15% shift penalty for their nominal position prior to the transfer;
- (b) Employees must transfer to the position from an established transfer list and be subject to the normal selection process. A transfer is defined as a move from one position to another at the same designation and same employment category; and
- (c) The position the employee transfers to must have been staffed as a 15% penalty shift position immediately prior to the transfer.
- (d) The assurance re employees on transfer lists does not apply where:
 - (i) a part time employee PDO is successful in obtaining full time employment; and
 - (ii) a delivery employee obtains a position in a higher designation on promotion.

17.9.2 Consideration of Proposals to Retain Penalty Shifts

- (a) Australia Post and the CEPU agree that the current Delivery Facility Councils/Forums provide the most appropriate processes for considering/assessing employee proposals aimed at retaining penalty shifts in Delivery. It is accepted that any such proposals must:
 - (i) provide at least the same budget outcomes as non-penalty shifts;
 - (ii) meet customer and operational requirements; and
 - (iii) be consistent with Post's strategic directions.
- (b) It is in the interests of all parties for workplace issues to be dealt with to finality, as far as is reasonably practicable by employees and

- management at Facility level, but there can be situations/circumstances when broader network/strategic imperatives need to influence local decision making processes. It is agreed that where such situations/circumstances arise in relation to penalty shift proposals, affected staff will be advised accordingly.
- (c) The parties at the National level will develop a framework to facilitate local consideration/assessment of these employee proposals. If the parties do not reach agreement on the framework within 6 months of the date of effect of this agreement, either party may request the AIRC to arbitrate on the National framework. Either party may seek to vary the National Framework and have any such request arbitrated if the parties cannot agree. There will be no right to arbitration on matters involving individual proposals.

18. ANNUAL LEAVE

18.1 Entitlement

CI 25.1 GC of E

Subject to this clause, on the first day of January each year, an employee will receive an annual leave credit or an additional annual leave credit of:

18.1.1 Period

A period equivalent to the employee's ordinary hours of duty during a period of four weeks exclusive of public holidays which fall within the period of leave; or

18.1.2 Remote Localities

In the case of an employee who performs duty in a prescribed remote locality, the amount of annual leave which is credited on 1 January will comprise:

- (a) a period equivalent to the employee's ordinary hours of duty during a period of four weeks exclusive of public holidays which fall within the period of leave; and
- (b) such additional period commensurate with the level of hardship associated with that location and the additional time involved during annual leave in travelling from and returning to that location.

18.1.3 Pro Rata Entitlement

In the case of an employee who commences duty after 1 January, the annual leave credit which accrues on the first day of January following the date of commencement shall be calculated at the rate of 1/12 of the period that would have accrued under 18.1.1 and 18.1.2 for each completed month of service.

18.1.4 Leave Without Pay

Where an employee has been absent from duty on approved leave without pay (other than leave without pay which counts as service) for more than 22 working days, the annual leave credit which would otherwise accrue on 1 January is reduced by 1/12 of the period of the credit for each 22 working days on which the employee was so absent, provided that the reduction does not exceed 1 2/3 days for each calendar month of such absence within any calendar year.

18.2 Conditions for Leave

The granting of annual leave is subject to the following conditions:

CI 25.2 GC

18.2.1 Application

An application for leave is submitted in the prescribed manner;

18.2.2 Leave to be Taken

Ordinarily leave is to be taken in the year in which it accrues;

18.2.3 Leave Roster

Where operational or audit requirements necessitate, Australia Post may roster an employee to take leave at a nominated time, whether or not an application has been made by the employee;

18.2.4 Timing

An employee will be allowed to take annual leave in whole or in part, at a time convenient to the employee, consistent with the operational requirements of Australia Post;

18.2.5 Single Days

Despite the provisions of this clause, an employee may elect with the consent of Australia Post, to take annual leave in single day periods not exceeding ten days in any calendar year at a time or times agreed between them;

18.2.6 Limit

An employee is not allowed to take leave in excess of available credits, except with the approval of Australia Post;

18.2.7 Credits

Where a period of absence is granted for annual leave, the annual leave credit of the employee is reduced by the period of the leave or, if the period of leave exceeds the credit, the leave credit which next accrues shall be reduced by the period of the excess; and

18.2.8 Excess Credits

If, at any time, the leave credit of an employee exceeds the credit applicable to the previous two years service, Australia Post may direct the employee to take such leave as will reduce the credit to that amount.

18.3 Advance Payment

An employee proceeding on annual leave who has requested payment at least three weeks prior to the commencement of leave is entitled to receive payment in advance.

18.4 Payment Instead of Leave

Except as otherwise provided in this clause and 18.8 - Seven Day Shift Workers - Payment In Lieu of Additional Annual Leave, payment is not to be made or accepted in lieu of annual leave credits.

CI 25.3 GC of F

CI 25.4 GC

of E

18.5 Termination Payment

pay to

In addition to any other amounts payable under this award, Australia Post must pay to an employee whose employment ceases, otherwise than by death:

- 18.5.1 an amount equal to the salary that would have been payable had the employee commenced annual leave for a period equivalent to credits at the time of cessation; and
- 18.5.2 an amount equal to the salary that would have been payable in relation to prorata leave calculated on the basis of 1/12 of the normal annual leave entitlement for each completed month of service between the previous 1 January and the date of cessation.

18.6 Recovery of Payments

CI 25.6 GC of E

CI 25.5 GC

of F

Nothing in this clause affects Australia Post's rights to recover salary in respect of a period of leave granted in excess of an employee's credit.

18.7 Annual Leave - Seven Day Shift Workers

CI 25.7 GC of E

18.7.1 Additional Annual Leave

In addition to the period of annual leave prescribed in 18.1, seven day shift workers, that is, shift workers who are rostered to work regularly on Sundays and holidays, are allowed an additional week of leave (7 consecutive days) including non-working days.

18.7.2 Part-time Employees

A part-time employee who satisfies the definition of seven day shift worker in 18.7.1 is not eligible for the additional annual leave unless the employee works at least 5 shifts each week or at least the number of shifts a week on average of an equivalent full-time employee.

18.7.3 Pro Rata Entitlement

However where a seven day shift worker is rostered to work on less than 10 Sundays during the accrual period, the shift worker is not entitled to the additional week of leave but shall be granted additional leave at the rate of 1/10 of a working week in respect of each Sunday worked.

18 7 4 Rostered Overtime

Rostered Sunday overtime shifts do not count for the purposes of 18.7.1 where such shifts are less than 3 hours duration. Where a rostered overtime shift commences on a Saturday and extends into Sunday or commences on a Sunday and extends into Monday it is deemed to be a Sunday overtime shift for the purposes of this clause.

18.7.5 Leave On Public Holidays

The annual leave prescribed by this clause is exclusive of public holidays.

18.7.6 Termination Payment

Where leave due under the provisions of 18.7.1 is not granted before the termination of employment it shall be treated in a similar manner to Annual Leave accrued under 18.1.

18.8 Seven Day Shift Workers - Payment In Lieu Of Additional Annual Leave

CI 25.8 GC of F

18.8.1 Payment Instead of Leave

An individual employee may, subject to management agreement, elect to receive payment instead of the additional leave accrued under 18.7 Annual Leave - Seven Day Shift Workers.

18.8.2 Payment For Public Holidays During Leave

An individual employee may elect, subject to management's agreement, to receive payment in lieu of additional leave for public holidays falling during the period of annual leave.

18.8.3 Amount of Payment

The rate of payment in lieu of the additional leave shall be identical to the rate of payment to which the employee would be entitled if the additional leave were taken.

18.9 Annual Leave Loading

CI 25.9 GC of F

18.9.1 Amount

In addition to any amounts payable during a period of annual leave, an employee shall, for the period of leave, receive a loading of the greater of:-

- (a) 17.5% of salary of the employee as at the accrual date of the leave subject to a maximum payment of the equivalent of the Australian Statistician's average weekly total earnings of all employees (males) August Preliminary for the year preceding the year in which the date of leave credit occurs; or:
- (b) any additional payments for shift, Saturday or Sunday duty not in excess of prescribed weekly hours which the employee would have performed had annual leave not been taken.

18.9.2 Employed Less Than One Year

Where an employee who commenced employment after 1 January of any year and whose services terminated before the end of that calendar year,

salary for purposes of 18.9 is the equivalent of that employee's commencement salary as at 1 January of that year.

18.9.3 Leave Accrual Less than for Full Year

The maximum payment under 18.9.1(a) is to be adjusted on a pro-rata basis where less than a full year of leave credit has accrued.

18.9.4 Meaning of Salary

For the purpose of 18.9.1(a) salary includes any additional payments which the employee received on 1 January of the year in which the leave was credited but does not include payments covered by 18.9.1(b).

18.9.5 Part-time Employees

A part-time employee is entitled to the provisions of this clause. However, for the purposes of 18.9.1(a), the maximum payment is calculated by means of the following formula:

Average Weekly Earnings x (A \div B)

Where:

- A is the hours of annual leave payable to a part-time employee; and
- **B** is the hours worked by a full-time employee over the equivalent period.

18.9.6 Timing of Payment

As long as an application is made for at least one week of the Annual Leave to which the Annual Leave Loading relates, payment of the Annual Leave Loading is to be made:

- (a) to employees on a leave roster, at the same time as payment for such leave;
- (b) to other employees, with the payment for leave following a request for payment of the Annual Leave Loading.

18.9.7 Payment on Termination

An employee whose services terminate for any reason and who is entitled to payment in lieu of accumulated annual leave or in lieu of leave on a pro-rata basis will be paid outstanding loadings from previous years accruals and a pro-rata loading for the last year of service.

19. PERSONAL LEAVE

The provisions of this clause apply to permanent and fixed term full-time and part-time employees (on a pro-rata basis) but do not apply to casual employees. The entitlements of casual employees are set out in clause 8.

CI 26 GC of E

19.1 Definitions

The term **immediate family** includes:

CI 26.1 GC of F

- 19.1.1 spouse (including a former spouse, a de facto spouse and a former de facto spouse) of the employee. A de facto spouse means a person who lives with the employee as his or her husband or wife on a bona fide domestic basis; and
- 19.1.2 child or an adult child (including an adopted child, a stepchild or an ex-nuptial child), parent, grandparent, grandchild or sibling of the employee or spouse of the employee.

19.2 Amount of paid personal leave

19.2.1 Paid personal leave is available to an employee, other than a casual employee, when the employee is absent:

CI 26.2 GC of E

- Due to personal illness or injury (sick leave); or
- For the purposes of caring for an immediate family or household member who is sick and requires the employee's care and support or who requires care due to an unexpected emergency (carer's leave).
- 19.2.2 The amount of personal leave to which a full-time employee is entitled depends on how long the employee has worked for Australia Post and accrues as follows:

(a) Period of Employment

Day(s)

1

On completion of each 20 days continuous employment

During the first 12 months, subject to a maximum of 15 days

15

On completion of 12 months employment

15

On completion of each additional 12 months employment

(b) Unused Personal Leave

In any year, unused personal leave accrues at the rate of the lesser of:

 15 days less the amount of sick leave and carer's leave taken from the current year's personal leave entitlement in that year; or • the balance of that year's unused personal leave.

(c) Maximum Accrual

Personal Leave can therefore only accrue at a maximum rate of 15 days per year, such leave is cumulative.

19.3 Personal leave for personal injury or sickness (sick leave)

CI 26.3 GC of E

An employee is entitled to use the full amount of their personal leave entitlement including accrued leave for the purposes of personal illness or injury, subject to the conditions set out in this clause.

19.4 Personal leave to care for an immediate family or household member (carer's leave)

CI 26.4 GC

of E

19.4.1 An employee is entitled to use up to 10 days personal leave, including accrued leave, each year to care for members of their immediate family or household who are sick and require care and support or who require care due to an unexpected emergency, subject to the conditions set out in this clause.

- 19.4.2 By agreement between Australia Post and an individual employee, the employee may access an additional amount of their accrued personal leave for the purposes set out in 19.4.1, beyond the limit set out in 19.4.1. In such circumstances, Australia Post and the employee shall agree upon the additional amount that may be accessed.
- 19.4.3 The entitlement in 19.4.1 is subject to the employee being responsible for the care and support of the person concerned. In normal circumstances, an employee is not entitled to take carer's leave under this clause if another person has taken leave to care for the same person.

19.5 Employee must give notice

CI 26.5 GC of F

The manager or another appropriate employee is informed, prior to the commencement of duty, if practicable, of the employee's inability to attend for duty. In the case of carer's leave the employee shall, wherever practicable, give Australia Post notice of the leave prior to the absence, the name of the person requiring care and their relationship to the employee, the reasons for taking such leave and the estimated length of absence. If it is not practicable for the employee to give prior notice of absence, the employee shall notify the employer by telephone of such absence at the first opportunity on the day of absence.

19.6 Evidence supporting claim

CI 26.6.1 GC of E

- 19.6.1 An application for sick leave must be supported by the certificate of a duly qualified medical practitioner or other evidence approved by Australia Post;
- 19.6.2 In relation to the provision of evidence for carer's leave:
 - (a) for carer's leave of a single day's duration, where it is not feasible to

CI 8.9 EBA

			obtain a medical certificate for that single day's absence, the employee may instead provide a statutory declaration establishing the illness of the person to whom the carer's leave relates and indicating that the employee is responsible for the care of the person concerned; and	6		
		(b)	for carer's leave of more than a single day duration, the employee must provide a medical certificate establishing the illness of the person to whom the carer's leave relates and indicating that the employee is responsible for the care of the person concerned.			
	19.6.3	househ must, i accept emerge	taking leave to care for members of their immediate family or nold who require care due to an unexpected emergency, the employee if required by Australia Post, establish by production of documentation able to Australia Post or a statutory declaration of the nature of the ency and that such emergency resulted in the person concerneding care by the employee.	CI 26.6.3 GC of E		
19.7	Unpaid personal leave					
	Where an employee has exhausted all paid personal leave entitlements, they are entitled to take unpaid personal leave to care for members of their immediate family or household who are sick and require care and support or who require care due to an unexpected emergency. Australia Post and the employee shall agree on the period. In the absence of agreement, the employee is entitled to take up to two days per occasion, provided the requirements of 19.5, 19.6.2 and 19.6.3 are met.					
19.8	Sick lea	Sick leave without certificate				
	19.8.1	grant s hours i	e 19.6.1 and subject to the availability of credits, Australia Post may sick leave without production of a medical certificate for up to 36.75 n any sick leave year, subject to any such leave not exceeding 3 uous days.	CI 26.8 GC of E		
	19.8.2		as provided in 19.8.1, where sick leave is granted without production lical evidence, such leave is without pay.			
19.9	Sick lea					
	Sick Leave taken by an employee is debited against available sick leave credits, except where sick leave taken on a Public Holiday, which but for the sick leave would have been observed, is not debited.					
19.10	Illness during annual leave					
	If an employee produces satisfactory medical evidence of illness during annual leave, the absence will be recorded as sick leave and annual leave recredited accordingly, provided:					
	19.10.1 the employee has obtained a medical certificate;					

- 19.10.2 the medical evidence indicates the employee was unfit for duty;
- 19.10.3 sick leave for not less than 1 day was needed;
- 19.10.4 sick leave credits are available; and
- 19.10.5 the medical evidence is provided at the time of illness or if that is not possible as soon as practicable thereafter.

19.11 Failure to produce satisfactory evidence

Despite anything else contained in this clause, where an employee has failed to produce satisfactory evidence to support an application for sick leave, Australia Post may direct that employee, in writing, that all future applications for sick leave for such period as is specified in the direction must be supported by evidence in accordance with 19.6.1.

CI 26.11 GC of E

19.12 Employee to provide medical report

Australia Post may require an employee to furnish a medical report or undergo an examination by a medical practitioner nominated by Australia Post where the employee:

CI 26.12 GC of E

- 19.12.1 may be unfit or incapable of discharging duties;
- 19.12.2 may be a danger to other employees or members of the public due to state of health;
- 19.12.3 has been absent through illness for a continuous period exceeding 13 weeks;
- 19.12.4 has been absent through illness and the authorised employee believes that the employee is not fit to resume duty.
- 19.12.5 An employee who is required to furnish a medical report or undergo a medical examination under 19.12 must do so as soon as practicable.

19.13 National Attendance Guidelines Procedures

Australia Post agrees that under the National Attendance Guidelines (or any replacement Guidelines) it will not:

- 19.13.1 identify individual employees for attendance improvement management based on specified trigger points in an arbitrary or automatic manner which does not have regard to personal circumstances; or
- 19.13.2 direct employees to attend Australia Post Nominated Doctors for same day medical assessments.

19.14 Maximum period

CI 26.13 GC of E

The maximum period of absence which may be approved with pay in respect of a

continuous absence through illness is 52 weeks. 19.15 Sick Leave Without Pay Cl 26.14 GC of E An employee who has exhausted all leave allowable with pay may be granted leave without pay, provided that: 19.15.1 in respect of the first year of continuous employment, the aggregate period of any sick leave without pay must not exceed 20 days; and 19.15.2 in respect of any continuous period of absence thereafter, leave with and without pay must not exceed 78 weeks. 19.16 Invalidity retirement date The retirement of an employee on the ground of invalidity or on the ground of inability CI 26.15 or incapacity for medical reasons shall not, except with the consent of the employee. GC of E be effected earlier than the date on which the employee's sick leave credit is exhausted. However this is subject to the following: 19.16.1 the continuous period for which an employee may be granted sick leave on full pay immediately prior to retirement must not exceed 52 weeks; 19.16.2 a further credit of sick leave does not accrue subsequent to the date of the decision to retire the employee. 19.17 Reappointment after retirement An employee who has been retired on the grounds of invalidity or inability or incapacity CI 26.16 GC of F for medical reasons, if subsequently reappointed, is to be re-credited with the sick leave credits held immediately prior to retirement. 19.18 War service sick leave CI 26.17 GC of E Despite anything contained in this clause, where satisfactory medical evidence is produced that absence from duty was on account of illness which originated from war service, the employee may be granted war service sick leave. War service sick leave is paid leave, and counts as service for all purposes. Where war service sick leave credits have expired, the employee may apply for sick leave under this clause. 19.19 Recognition of Prior Public Employment CI 26.18 19.19.1 Continuous employment with one or more other public employers may be GC of F regarded as service with Australia Post for sick leave purposes. For permanent employees, employment is regarded as continuous if any break in public employment does not exceed two months. 19.19.2 Public employers in this provision has the same meaning as public employers who are covered by the prior service provisions of the *Long Service Leave* (Commonwealth Employees) Act 1976.

20. BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

The provisions of this clause apply to permanent and fixed term full-time and part-time employees (on a pro rata basis) but do not apply to casual employees. The entitlements of casual employees are set out in clause 8.

CI 27 GC of

20.1 Paid leave entitlement

An employee is entitled to take up to three days bereavement leave on each occasion and on production of satisfactory evidence of the death of either a member of the employee's immediate family or household.

CI 27 1 GC of F

20.2 Unpaid bereavement leave

An employee may take unpaid bereavement leave by agreement with Australia Post.

CI 27.2 GC of E

20.3 Immediate family or household

20.3.1 Conditions of bereavement leave

CI 27.3 GC of F

The entitlement to use bereavement leave is subject to the person being either:

- (a) a member of the employee's immediate family; or
- (b) a member of the employee's household.

20.3.2 Immediate family

The **term immediate** family includes:

- (a) spouse (including a former spouse, a de facto spouse and a former de facto spouse) of the employee. A de facto spouse means a person of the opposite sex to the employee who lives with the employee as the husband or wife of that employee on a bona fide domestic basis; and
- (b) child or an adult child (including an adopted child, a stepchild or an ex nuptial child), parent, grandparent, grandchild or sibling of the employee or of the employee's spouse.

21. PARENTAL LEAVE

CI 28 GC of

Subject to the terms of this clause, employees are entitled to Maternity, Paternity and Adoption Leave and to work part-time in connection with the birth or adoption of a child.

The provisions of this clause apply to permanent and fixed term full-time and part-time employees and eligible casual employees, but do not apply to other casual employees.

An eligible casual employee means a casual employee:

- (a) employed by Australia Post on a regular and systematic basis for several periods of employment or on a regular and systematic basis for an on-going period of employment during a period of at least 12 months; and
- (b) who has, but for the pregnancy or the decision to adopt, a reasonable expectation of ongoing employment.

For the purposes of this clause, continuous service is work for Australia Post on a regular and systematic basis (including any period of authorised leave or absence).

Australia Post must not fail to re-engage a casual employee because:

- (a) the employee or employee's spouse is pregnant; or
- (b) the employee is or has been immediately absent on parental leave.

The rights of Australia Post in relation to engagement and re-engagement of casual employees are not affected, other than in accordance with this clause.

CI 28.1 GC of F

21.1 Definitions

- 21.1.1 For the purpose of this clause, **child** means a child of the employee under the age of 5 years who is placed with the employee for the purposes of adoption, other than a child or step-child of the employee or of the spouse of the employee or a child who has previously lived continuously with the employee for a period of six months or more.
- 21.1.2 Subject to 21.1.3, in this clause spouse includes a defacto or former spouse.

21.1.3 In relation to 21.5 (Adoption leave) spouse includes a defacto spouse but does not include a former spouse.

CI 28.2 GC of E

21.2 Basic Entitlement

21.2.1 After twelve months continuous service, an employee who becomes a parent is entitled to a total of 52 weeks parental leave in relation to the birth or adoption of their child. For females, maternity leave may be taken and for males, paternity leave may be taken. Adoption leave may be taken in the case of adoption.

CI 28.3 1 GC of E

21.3 Maternity leave

21.3.1 An employee is entitled to Maternity Leave in accordance with the *Maternity Leave (Commonwealth Employees) Act 1973*.

(a) An employee who is entitled to Maternity Leave in accordance with the *Maternity Leave (Commonwealth Employees) Act 1973* provision will be granted an additional two week's paid leave to count as service immediately following the completion of paid maternity leave.

Cl 8.13 EBA6 plus extra week In applying this provision:

- the additional two week's paid leave will be counted towards the maximum period of 52 weeks of paid and unpaid maternity leave; and
- (ii) the qualifying period of 12 months continuous service for paid maternity leave still applies.

CI 28.3.2 GC of E

21.3.2 Special Maternity Leave

Where the pregnancy of an employee not then on maternity leave terminates after 28 weeks other than by the birth of a living child, then the employee may take unpaid special maternity leave of such periods as a registered medical practitioner certifies as necessary.

CI 28.4 GC of E

21.4 Paternity Leave

- 21.4.1 An employee is entitled to unpaid Paternity Leave for up to 52 weeks after the birth of a child of a spouse.
- 21.4.2 An employee will provide to Australia Post at least ten weeks prior to each proposed period of paternity leave, with:
 - (a) a certificate from a registered medical practitioner which names his spouse, states that she is pregnant and the expected date of confinement, or states the date on which the birth took place; and
 - (b) written notification of the dates on which he proposes to start and finish the period of paternity leave.
- 21.4.3 The employee will not be in breach of 21.4.2 if the failure to give the required period of notice is because of the birth occurring earlier than expected, the death of the mother of the child, or other compelling circumstances.

CI 28.5 GC of F

21.5 Adoption Leave

- 21.5.1 An employee is entitled to unpaid Adoption Leave for up to 52 weeks after the adoption of a child.
- 21.5.2 The employee will notify Australia Post at least ten weeks in advance of the date of commencement of adoption leave and the period of leave to be taken. An employee may commence adoption leave prior to providing such notice, where through circumstances beyond the control of the employee, the adoption of a child takes place earlier.
- 21.5.3 Australia Post may require an employee to provide confirmation from the appropriate government authority of the placement.
- 21.5.4 Where the placement of a child for adoption with an employee does not proceed or continue, the employee will notify Australia Post immediately and

Australia Post will nominate a time not exceeding four weeks from receipt of notification for the employee's return to work.

- 21.5.5 An employee will not be in breach of this clause as a consequence of failure to give the stipulated periods of notice if such failure results from a requirement of an adoption agency to accept earlier or later placement of a child, the death of a spouse, or other compelling circumstances.
- 21.5.6 An employee seeking to adopt a child is entitled to unpaid leave for the purpose of attending any compulsory interviews or examinations as are necessary as part of the adoption procedure. The employee and Australia Post should agree on the length of the unpaid leave. Where agreement cannot be reached, the employee is entitled to take up to two days unpaid leave. Where paid leave is available to the employee, Australia Post may require the employee to take such leave instead.

CI 28.6 GC of E

21.6 Variation of period of parental leave

Unless agreed otherwise between Australia Post and employee, an employee may apply to Australia Post to change the period of parental leave on one occasion. Any such change to be notified as soon as possible but no less than four weeks prior to the commencement of the changed arrangements.

CI 28.7 GC of E

21.7 Parental leave and other entitlements

An employee may in lieu of or in conjunction with parental leave, access any annual leave or long service leave entitlements which they have accrued subject to the total amount of leave not exceeding 52 weeks or longer as agreed under 21.11.1.

CI 8.14(a) FBA 6

21.7.1 managers will grant any application for access to these leave credits for up to one week for paternity leave or adoption leave purposes during the period within 3 weeks of the birth or adoption. The employee is to provide the manager with appropriate evidence of the birth or adoption of the child as well as appropriate notice; and

CI 8.14(b) EBA 6

21.7.2 managers will be encouraged to give favourable consideration to any application by an employee for use of accrued annual leave or long service leave credits in excess of one week for paternity leave and adoption leave purposes, subject to sufficient notice being given by the employee of the expected commencement date of such leave and the period of leave to be taken.

CI 28.8 GC of E

21.8 Transfer to a safe job

21.8.1 Where an employee is pregnant and, in the opinion of a registered medical practitioner, illness or risks arising out of the pregnancy or hazards connected with the work assigned to the employee make it inadvisable for the employee to continue at her present work, the employee will, if Australia Post deems it practicable, be transferred to a safe job at the rate and on the conditions attaching to that job until the commencement of maternity leave.

21.8.2 If the transfer to a safe job is not practicable, the employee may elect, or Australia Post may require the employee to commence maternity leave for such period as is certified necessary by a registered medical practitioner.

CI 28.9 GC of E

21.9 Returning to work after a period of parental leave

- 21.9.1 An employee will notify their intention to return to work after a period of parental leave at least four weeks prior to the expiration of the leave.
- 21.9.2 An employee will be entitled to the position which they held immediately before proceeding on parental leave. In the case of an employee transferred to a safe job pursuant to 21.8, the employee will be entitled to return to the position they held immediately before such transfer.
- 21.9.3 Where such position no longer exists but there are other positions available for which the employee is qualified and is capable of performing, the employee will be entitled to a position as nearly comparable in status and pay to that of their former position.

CI 28.10 GC of E

21.10 Replacement employees

- 21.10.1 A replacement employee is an employee specifically engaged or temporarily promoted or transferred, as a result of an employee proceeding on parental leave.
- 21.10.2 Before Australia Post engages a replacement employee, it must inform that person of the temporary nature of the employment and of the rights of the employee who is being replaced.

21.11 Right to request

CI 28.11 GC of F

- 21.11.1 An employee entitled to parental leave pursuant to the provisions of this clause may request Australia Post to allow the employee:
 - (a) to extend the period of unpaid parental leave provided for in clauses 21.3, 21.4 and 21.5 by a further continuous period of leave not exceeding 12 months;
 - (b) to return from a period of parental leave on a part-time basis until the child reaches 5 years of age,

to assist the employee in reconciling work and parental responsibilities.

21.11.2 Australia Post shall consider the request having regard to the employee's circumstances and, provided the request is genuinely based on the employee's parental responsibilities, may only refuse the request on reasonable grounds related to the effect on the workplace or Australia Post's business. Such grounds might include cost, lack of adequate replacement staff, loss of efficiency and the impact on customer service.

- 21.11.3 The employee's request and Australia Post's decision made under 21.11.1(a) and 21.11.1(b) must be recorded in writing.
- 21.11.4 Where an employee wishes to make a request under 21.11.1(b), such a request must be made as soon as possible but no less than seven weeks prior to the date upon which the employee is due to return from parental leave.

CI 28.12 GC of E

21.12 Communication during parental leave

- 21.12.1 Where an employee is on parental leave and a definite decision has been made to introduce significant change at the workplace, Australia Post shall take reasonable steps to:
 - (a) make information available in relation to any significant effect the change will have on the status or responsibility level of the position the employee held before commencing parental leave; and
 - (b) provide an opportunity for the employee to discuss any significant effect the change will have on the status or responsibility level of the position the employee held before commencing parental leave.
- 21.12.2 The employee shall take reasonable steps to inform Australia Post about any significant matter that will affect the employee's decision regarding the duration of parental leave to be taken, whether the employee intends to return to work and whether the employee intends to request to return to work on a part-time basis.
- 21.12.3 The employee shall also notify Australia Post of changes of address or other contact details which might affect Australia Post's capacity to comply with 21.12.1

22. STUDY/EXAMINATION LEAVE

Att A Cl 2 FBA 6

Study and examination leave may be granted to approved students in accordance with Australia Post's Principal Determination

23. LEAVE TO ATTEND AS WITNESS IN INDUSTRIAL PROCEEDINGS

23.1 Leave without deduction from ordinary pay shall be granted to any employee summoned to appear as a witness in proceedings under the *Workplace Relations Act* 1996, as may be amended from time to time. The leave shall be only for such time as that employee is necessarily absent from duty attending as a witness.

CI 29 GC of

23.2 Leave granted under this clause shall count for all purposes as period of service.

24. JURY SERVICE

CI 30 GC of

24.1 Leave Granted

An employee summoned as a juror shall promptly notify the appropriate supervisor and

shall be granted leave of absence on full pay for the period necessary for the attendance at court.

24.2 **Jury Fees**

An employee must pay to Australia Post so much of any jury fees received less costs necessarily incurred as Australia Post considers reasonable.

25. **WORK/LIFE**

The parties are committed to the application of work/life initiatives throughout all workplaces but recognise that such initiatives must be mutually beneficial to both the business and employees and consistent with operational needs.

Att A cl 5 EBA 6

- 25.1 The parties agree to promote work/life initiatives provided such arrangements are negotiated and agreed to by management and the employee and meet the operational needs of the business:
 - (a) extension of short term absences for non-family purposes provided the make-up and time off arrangements are jointly agreed;
 - 48/52 mode of employment where the arrangements made are cost (b) neutral to the business:
 - use of time in lieu arrangements (c)
 - (d) job sharing
 - employment breaks for up to 3 years for family leave purposes. (e)

An employee may access normal grievance provisions to appeal against any refusal based on operational needs.

26 **PUBLIC HOLIDAYS**

26.1 **Designated Holidays**

The following days will be observed as public holidays:

and Boxing Day; and

CI 31 GC of

26.1.1 New Year's Day, Good Friday, Easter Saturday, Easter Monday, Christmas Day

CI 31.1 GC of F

- 26.1.2 the following days, as prescribed in the relevant States, Territories and localities:
 - Australia Day,
 - Anzac Day,
 - Queen's Birthday and

- Eight Hours' Day or Labour Day; and
- 26.1.3 in addition to the holidays prescribed in 26.1.1 and 26.1.2, the following days shall be observed as holidays:
 - (a) **New South Wales:** An Authorised Holiday on the same day as determined by Australia Post to apply nationally;
 - (b) Victoria: Melbourne Cup Day or local equivalent;
 - (c) **Queensland:** Royal National Show or the day gazetted for the local show in the appropriate area;
 - (d) South Australia: Adelaide Cup Day;
 - (e) Western Australia: Foundation Day
 - (f) Tasmania: Royal Hobart Regatta (Southern Tasmania) or Recreation Day (Northern Tasmania);
 - (g) Northern Territory: Picnic Day;
 - (h) ACT: Canberra Day.

26.2 Substitute Holidays

26.2.1 Christmas Day

When Christmas Day falls on Saturday or Sunday, a holiday in lieu thereof shall be observed on 27 December.

26.2.2 Boxing Day

When Boxing Day falls on a Saturday or Sunday, a holiday in lieu thereof shall be observed on 28 December.

26.2.3 New Year's Day or Australia Day

When New Year's Day or Australia Day falls on a Saturday or Sunday, a holiday in lieu thereof shall be observed on the next Monday.

26.3 Local Holidays

26.3.1 Local Substitution Holiday

Where in a State or Territory or locality within a State or Territory, another day is declared or prescribed in substitution for a holiday mentioned in this clause, then that day shall be deemed to be a holiday for the purpose of this Agreement.

26.3.2 Additional Local Holidays

Where in a State, Territory or locality, public holidays are declared, or prescribed on days other than those set out in 26.1 and 26.2, those days are regarded as additional holidays for the purpose of this Agreement provided that such additional holidays must not exceed, in the whole two days in any period of twelve months commencing on 5 January.

26.4 Substitution of Public Holidays By Agreement

Australia Post and an individual employee may agree to the employee taking another day as the public holiday in lieu of the day which is being observed as a public holiday in the employee's workplace.

27. TEMPORARY PART-TIME SUPPORT SERVICES OFFICERS

27.1 Scope

CI 11 Ops

The provisions in this clause only apply to temporary part-time Support Services Officers who were employed at 27 December 1995 under the Australia Post (Postal Workers) Award 1985 [A0170] and who elected to remain under the conditions in that award instead of transferring to the standard permanent part-time conditions, contained in the Australia Post Operations Award 1999 and the Australia Post General Conditions of Employment Award 1999. The standard permanent part-time conditions do not apply to employees covered by this clause unless otherwise specified.

27.2 Rates Of pay

27.2.1 Rate of pay

Employees are to be paid no less than the hourly rate which is the equivalent (calculated on a 36.75 hour week basis) of the minimum rate prescribed for a full-time Support Services Officer of the appropriate level.

27.2.2 Loading

This hourly rate is to be increased by a loading of 12.5% for all time worked up to and including seven hours 21 minutes in any day or 36.75 hours in any week with the following exception. The loading is not applied where it would raise the total salary for a period of seven hours 21 minutes or less in any day or a period of 36.75 hours or less in any week beyond the total salary that an employee earning the same hourly rate without the 12.5% loading would earn for a total of seven hours 21 minutes in a day or a total of 36.75 hours in a week as the case may be.

27.2.3 Minimum payment

Irrespective of the rate of pay prescribed at 27.2.1 and the loading at 27.2.2, an employee must be paid a minimum of two hours pay for attendance on any day or shift.

27.2.4 Loading On annual leave

The 12.5% loading prescribed in 27.2.2 is to continue to be paid during annual leave.

27.3 Leave

An employee employed under this clause is entitled to the same annual and sick leave conditions as permanent part-time employees.

27.4 Overtime, holidays, shift, Saturday, Sunday Duty

An employee employed under this clause is entitled to the same conditions as permanent part-time employees in respect of:

- 27.4.1 Holidays and holiday duty
- 27.4.2 Shift duty
- 27.4.3 Saturday duty
- 27.4.4 Sunday duty; and
- 27.4.5 Overtime

28. NOTICE BOARDS

To facilitate work related communication between employees and their union and/or employee representatives at the workplace, the employer will permit the use of notice boards. The employer retains the right to reject and remove the posting of any material which is not in relation to this Agreement.

CI 10 GC of

CI 3.1 EBA

29. EMPLOYEE CONSULTATION

29.1 The parties agree that consultation is important in maintaining positive working relationships between Australia Post, its employees and the relevant unions. Australia Post acknowledges that consultation prior to any significant change and on the consequences of that change is critical to maintaining positive workplace relationships and positive business outcomes.

CI 3.2 EBA

29.2 Australia Post and the unions recognise that the principles of consultation stated in Commissioner Smith's decision in *CEPU v Vodafone Network Pty Ltd (Print 911257)* reflect its intention with respect to consultation. In particular, Australia Post and the unions agree with the following statement by Commissioner Smith in that decision at paragraph 25;

"Consultation is not perfunctory advice on what is about to happen. This is [a] common misconception. Consultation is providing the individual, or other relevant parties, with a bonafide opportunity to influence the decision maker."

CI 3.3 EBA 6 (a-q).

29.3	The pa	rties agree:	(3.3(h)and (i)
	29.3.1	that the focus of consultation will be on the impact of Australia Post's decisions on its employees;	excluded.
	29.3.2	that "significant change" relates to impacts on employees at a facility, or organisational part of a facility, state or national level;	
	29.3.3	that agreements negotiated at the national level are not to be renegotiated at State or local level;	
	29.3.4	to maintain positive two-way relationships with unions and employees at a State and National level including a focus on effective workplace resolution of, and consultation on, relevant issues;	
	29.3.5	to take all reasonable steps to ensure differences are dealt with constructively, including prompt consideration of matters raised by any party during the process;	OEA issue to be discussed
	29.3.6	that relationships will be kept under regular review at both State and National level to ensure they remain positive and constructive and are maintained at all levels of the business;	
	29.3.7	that if consultation is not operating effectively, prompt joint action from higher levels will be taken to rectify the situation.	OEA issue to be discussed
29.4		lia Post will, prior to making any significant change for reasons including mic, technological, structural reasons or similar nature, commit to the following s:	CI 3.4 EBA 6
	29.4.1	as soon as practicable before making changes which directly affect employees, inform each relevant union which represents the industrial interests of such employees about the details of the proposed changes. The information provided to the relevant union will include the nature of and reasons for the proposed change; the number and categories of employees likely to be affected and the time when, or the period over which, the employer intended to carry out the proposed change; and	
	29.4.2	as soon as practicable after deciding and before changing an employee's employment subject to the decision, Australia Post will give each relevant union an opportunity to consult on measures to avert and/or mitigate the effects on employees including adverse effects on job security, reduction in income, change of working hours for individuals, change of worksite, change to skill requirements, adverse impact on equal employment opportunity or occupational health and safety.	(CI 3.5 excluded)
29.5	employ	ion to effects on staff in respect of major change, where requested by an ree/s, Australia Post and the relevant union/s agree to work together to ensure re consultation with staff (this may include where agreed, joint briefings with	New

staff). 29.6 Consultation on Future Delivery Changes New 29.6.1 Australia Post and the CEPU undertook a review as part of EBA6 to identify and examine Delivery issues in the context of: (a) The future needs of the business; (b) Viable and effective operations, work design and employment arrangements; and (c) The expected future environment and customer requirements. 29.6.2 The focus during the life of EBA7 will move from this review process to ensuring there are appropriate consultation arrangements in place for key issues/initiatives discussed by the parties during the EBA6 Review including implementation of relevant changes. 29.6.3 It is common ground between the parties that whilst these changes will have impacts across Australia Post's network, Delivery employees will be subject to the greatest change. 29.6.4 The consultation arrangements will be consistent with the general principles outlined in this Clause and will involve consultation at the National. State and facility levels. In relation to the National level these changes will be included as a standing item in the new MND National Consultative Forum. **EMPLOYMENT SECURITY** 30. CI 4 EBA 6 30.1 The parties agree that customer satisfaction, service reliability, sustained business levels and the capacity to grow in new business areas is fundamental to providing ongoing employment security for employees. 30.2 Subject to 30.1 and the maintenance of the current overall business levels, Australia Post remains confident that, during the term of the Agreement, with commitment and co-operation from unions and employees (including, where appropriate, retraining, redeployment and voluntary redundancy under the Australia Post Redundancy/ Redeployment/Retraining Agreement ("the RRR Agreement") at Attachment D, workplace changes can be managed without resort to compulsory retrenchment. 31. LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT CI 7 FBA 6 31.1 The parties are committed to meeting the ongoing learning and development needs of employees in order to ensure a productive and skilled workforce with access to career pathways. 31.2 Regular consultation between the parties regarding learning and development will take place in the Joint National Learning and Development Forum to be held quarterly. 31.3 Learning and development will be aligned to the agreed competency standards and,

where possible, the Australian Qualifications Framework ("AQF"). Where learning and development is aligned to the AQF this will lead to nationally recognised qualifications under the relevant industry training package.. This ensures the knowledge and skills obtained:

- 31.3.1 are relevant to the requirements of the workplace and the work performed; and
- 31.3.2 support employees to undertake their jobs in an efficient and satisfying way.
- 31.4 Employees will have equitable access to learning and development opportunities.

 Training and assessment methods will employ appropriate measures to address literacy and numeracy barriers experienced by employees.
- 31.5 Training and assessment required for the employee's current duties will be conducted, where possible, during normal working hours with costs met by Australia Post.

 Training during working hours is paid time. Where an employee is required to attend training out of hours the training time will be treated as paid time in accordance with the provisions of this agreement. Provided that normal change of shift provisions may apply to attendance at training.
- 31.6 Australia Post acknowledges that it has a responsibility to provide learning and development. Priority will be given to consultation at the area/facility level in developing learning and development plans for the facility. Where qualifications are required for an individual to perform his/her work, relevant individual plans must be developed. Learning and development plans should be developed within 12 months of certification of the Agreement. Learning and development plans must be consistent with the Australia Post Competency Framework Assessment Policy.
- 31.7 Assessment processes will be in accordance with the Australia Post Competency Framework Assessment Policy. Where there is a roll out of any assessment processes Australia Post will enter into discussions with the relevant union to establish a skills training program to ensure that over time internal assessors are available in Australia Post.
- 31.8 An individual may elect to undertake an assessment in relation to their current competencies, prior to undertaking any further training to acquire competencies.

32. EMPLOYEE CONDUCT AND DISCIPLINE

32.1 The following arrangements shall apply.

Employee Discipline

32.1.1 Australia Post has the right to dismiss an employee, impose a penalty of a reduction of two (2) increments for a period of 12 months (or equivalent penalty), or to transfer an employee to another position of the same or a lower classification for behaviour or performance which warrants such action, including:

CI 8.15 and Att A CI 10 EBA 6 except references to dismissal removed from paras

- (a) misconduct or wilful neglect of duty or grossly negligent conduct;
- (b) incompetence or inefficiency for reasons within the employee's control;
- (c) failure to observe the Code of Ethics.
- 32.1.2 Except in the case of serious and wilful misconduct or grossly negligent conduct (see below), Australia Post shall ensure that:
 - employees are counselled and/or given a warning in order to assist them to maintain acceptable standards of behaviour and performance;
 - (b) no employee is dismissed or transferred for a first breach of the Code of Ethics;
 - (c) grossly negligent conduct would apply in isolated instances only. For the purpose of this clause, such conduct involves a reckless act or omission which causes or could cause significant damage or harm and which would adversely affect the employment relationship. Decisions involving dismissal or transfer which are based on gross negligence (but not serious and wilful matters) should not be taken without prior referral to the Corporate HR Group.
- 32.1.3 An employee may be suspended pending a decision as to the action to be taken under clause (32.1) and such suspension shall be with pay, provided that suspension may be without pay where:
 - (a) criminal proceedings are pending; or
 - (b) police investigation involving a serious criminal act is involved which would adversely affect the employment relationship.
- 32.1.4 In exercising these rights, Australia Post shall not take action which is harsh, unjust or unreasonable.
- 32.1.5 Australia Post shall furnish written advice to an employee of a decision under clause 32.1.1 and of reasons for the decision together with details of the procedures for lodging an application for review.
- 32.1.6 Where transfer or penalty (but not dismissal) under clause (32.1) is considered to have been harsh, unjust or unreasonable, the employee concerned may submit an application for review of the decision by a Board of Reference. Any such application must be lodged within 14 days of the transfer or penalty in accordance with procedures established by Australia Post. Employees will also have a right to seek a review of such suspension under 32.1.3(b) by a Board of Reference once the disciplinary process has been implemented.

32.1.7 Board of Reference

For the purposes of clause (32.1.6), the Industrial Registrar of the Australian Industrial Registry shall be requested to appoint a Board of Reference for the duration of the Agreement.

Subject to power

- 32.1.8 A Board of Reference shall be constituted by a Chairperson as may be agreed upon by the parties, or, where the parties are unable to agree, as nominated by the Industrial Registrar.
- 32.1.9 A Board of Reference shall seek to resolve any application for review submitted to it, having regard to whether the decision was harsh, unjust or unreasonable.
- 32.1.10 A Board of Reference, in reviewing a decision in relation to which an application is made:
 - (a) may inform itself in such manner as it thinks fit;
 - (b) has discretion as to the procedure to be followed;
 - (c) is not bound by the rules of evidence; and
 - (d) shall proceed without regard to legal form.

33. TEAM BASED WORK

33.1 Team Based Work – Mail and Parcel Processing

CI 9.16 EBA6

- 33.1.1 The roll-out of team based work in Mail and Parcel Processing continues to be a long and complex exercise (as it has in many organisations which have gone down similar paths).
- 33.1.2 It is agreed that this process will continue to be given emphasis during the life of the Agreement, with a view to:

CI 9.17 EBA6

- (a) continuing the progressive roll out of the team based work model, and the team skills loading for Mail Officers, Parcel Post Officers and technical staff (where applicable), into agreed mail and parcel processing facilities;
- (b) this roll out will be completed during the life of this Agreement; and
- (c) further development of effective team-working at existing facilities with team arrangements in place including consultation and employee involvement in relation to any changes in accordance with clause 29 of the Agreement.

33.2 CI 9.18 **Establishment of Teams at a Facility** FRA6 33.2.1 The team based work concept will be developed in an environment where: (a) employees are involved in the initial development of the appropriate team based work structure for their workplace and have the opportunity to commit to its implementation; (b) the structure of Teams may vary from site to site depending on local circumstances and operational requirements; teams are encouraged to take responsibility for the management of (c) the team and to be responsible and accountable for the performance of the work: (d) teams are encouraged to build knowledge, make decisions, improve performance and have a sense of ownership and involvement; and employees understand the processes which will be followed to make (e) changes over time to the initial facility team design. New 33.3 Eligibility for Retention of Team Skills Loading on Transfer 33.3.1 An employee's eligibility to retain team skills loading on redeployment or transfer to a facility that does not have teams accreditation will depend on whether the transfer is voluntary or at the direction of Australia Post under redeployment procedures. 33.3.2 An employee in receipt of team skills loading who is redeployed by Australia Post under the terms of the RRR Agreement to a facility that does not have teams accreditation will retain the team skills loading as part of salary. 33.3.3 Where an employee in receipt of team skills voluntarily transfers to a facility that does not have teams accreditation, the employee will not be eligible to retain his or her team skills loading. 33.3.4 An employee in receipt of team skills loading who is transferred for disciplinary reasons to a facility without teams accreditation will not retain his or her team skills loading on relocation. 34. SORT/MACHINE RATES CI 8.16 Managers shall not use sort or machine rates in an unreasonable and unfair manner in the EBA 6 management of employees' work or performance. 35. JOB DESIGN 35.1 It is agreed that the objective is to make jobs as fulfilling as practicable whilst meeting CI 9.1 EBA Australia Post's business needs. It is desirable to ensure job design and content can 6 adapt quickly to different business challenges and new ways of working.

35.2 It is agreed that job levels and work classification standards will not be altered without consultation with the relevant union and that any issues relating to changes will be subject to resolution through the dispute resolution procedure (clause 37), including reference to work value principles.

CI 9.2 EBA 6

35.3 Dedicated Delivery

- 35.3.1 Australia Post will not implement full time dedicated delivery arrangements during the term of this agreement.
- 35.3.2 Current Delivery employees will not be forced to transfer to a dedicated delivery role.

36. BENEFIT DISTRIBUTION

(CI 9.3-915 excluded)

36.1 The following pay increases will be made to the salaries applicable to classifications covered by this Agreement as at 2 November 2006 as reflected in the November 2006 Australia Post Human Resources Manual Rates of Pay Booklet from the following dates:

36.1.1	Date of Effect	Percentage Increase
	1 st pay period in September 2007 (already paid)	4%
	1 st pay period in August 2008	4%
	1 st pay period in August 2009	4%
	1 st pay period in August 2010	2%
	1st pay period in December 2010	2%

CI 10.1 EBA 6 modified for FBA 7

- 36.1.2 These percentage increases will also apply to the allowances set out at Attachment B.
- 36.2 A corporate bonus of \$500 will be paid in the first pay period commencing on 17 September 2009 subject to:
 - 36.2.1 Achieving service performance of at least 94% (as measured by the external monitoring agency) in the financial year 2008-2009. All employees are expected, in each State, to make every reasonable effort to support the achievement of the service performance target; and
 - 36.2.2 Specific eligibility criteria for the Corporate Bonus which are detailed at Attachment C.

37. DISPUTE RESOLUTION

37.1 The parties to the Agreement recognise that there exists a mutual responsibility to work cooperatively to resolve disagreements over workplace matters, as far as is practicable, at the workplace level. Accordingly, in relation to a dispute over the application of the Agreement arising during the life of the Agreement, the parties commit themselves to:

CI 12.1 EBA 6

- 37.1.1 promptly addressing disagreements within the procedures set out below;
- 37.1.2 discussing those disagreements in an open and honest way; and
- 37.1.3 seeking to resolve those disagreements wherever possible at the local level.

Dispute Resolution Procedure

- 37.2 At any stage of the procedure an employee/s may be accompanied or represented by a person of their choice, including a union representative.
- 37.3 The parties agree that where disagreements arise, the following procedure will apply:

37.3.1 The affected employee(s) will discuss the matter with their immediate manager/supervisor. However, in circumstances where the matter may relate to the behaviour or actions of the immediate manager and it would be inappropriate to discuss the matter at that level, the employee(s) may discuss the matter with the next highest level of management;

CI 12.2 EBA 6

37.3.2 If the matter is not resolved at that level within a reasonable timeframe, the affected employee(s) concerned may arrange further discussions involving more senior levels of management or the union as appropriate;

Cl 12.3 FRA 6

37.3.3 If the issue involves more than one employee, the employees involved, the union (where requested by an employee/s) or the management may raise the issue at the level the parties consider appropriate.

Conciliation

- 37.3.4 If the matter remains unresolved after the dispute resolution process in paragraph 37.3 has been followed, either party may notify the matter to the Australian Industrial Relations Commission ("the Commission") for conciliation. Where such notification occurs at the State level, the National level will be immediately advised.
- 37.3.5 The party notifying the dispute will do so by filing with the Commission and serving on all other relevant parties, a dispute notification document that sets out a brief description of the dispute, the material facts the disputing party believes to be relevant to the dispute and desired remedy.
- 37.3.6 Either party may raise jurisdictional issues and arguments at the Commission at the conciliation stage of the dispute resolution process.

Arbitration

CI 12.4 EBA 6.

- **37.4** Subject to clause 37.5
 - 37.4.1 If conciliation does not resolve the dispute, then a party to the dispute may elect to have the matter arbitrated by the Commission.
- 37.5 The Commission may only determine the matter by arbitration if all of the conditions set out in this sub-clause 37.5 are satisfied:
 - 37.5.1 The escalation process in paragraph 37.3 has been followed.
 - 37.5.2 That where the party requesting arbitration is one of the parties specified in clause 2.1.2 of the Agreement, that party has been authorised to apply for arbitration by its relevant decision making body in accordance with their rules which, in respect of the CEPU and CPSU, are set out below:
 - (a) CEPU, Communications Division Divisional Executive;
 - (b) CPSU Executive Committee
 - 37.5.3 The dispute must:
 - (a) be a dispute over the application of:
 - (i) a clause or clauses in the Agreement which was formerly a clause in the Australia Post General Conditions of Employment Award [AW766597], the Australia Post Operations Award [AW766599], the Australia Post Technical Award[AW766600] or the Australia Post Administrative/Professional Award [AW766598]; or
 - (ii) one or more of the following clauses in the Agreement:
 - A. Clause 14.10 Tea Breaks
 - B. Clause 31 Learning and Development
 - C. Clause 36 Benefit Distribution
 - D. Attachment B Adjustment of Allowances
 - E. Clause 6.2.8 Promotion/Temporary Performance Appeal Rights
 - F. Clause 22 Study/Examination Leave
 - G. Clause 9.10 Salary on Promotion
 - H. Clause 10.2 Salary Payment Arrangements

- I. Clause 25 Work/Life
- J. Clause 6.2.7 Part time Employees Preference
- K. Clause 6.3.5 Fixed Term employees Preference
- L. Clause 12.18 Team Skills Loading Mail Processing & Technical Staff
- M. Clause 12.7.3 Higher Duties Minimum period for Payment
- N. Clause 12.15 Shoe Allowance
- O. Clause 17.1.3 Shift Penalties for Part time shift
- P. Clause 19.6.2 Carer's Leave
- Q. Clause 21 Parental Leave
- R. Clause 35 Consultation on classification changes;
- S. Clause 29 Employee Consultation
- T. Attachment D, Appendix 8 Redundancy, Redeployment, Retraining Agreement
- U. Attachment D, Appendix 1 Australia Post Interstate Linehaul Agreement
- V. Attachment D, Appendix 6 Sprintpak Division Enterprise Agreement 1995
- (b) be a dispute over the formulation of the National Framework referred to in sub-clause 17.9.2(c) in the circumstances where the parties have not been able to agree on the National Framework within 6 months of the date of effect of this Agreement. In these circumstances a party may request that the National Framework be arbitrated. In addition, either party may seek to vary the National Framework and have any such request arbitrated if the parties cannot agree on that variation. There will be no right to arbitration on matters involving individual proposals; and
- (c) not be a dispute which is capable of being dealt with in the Administrative Appeals Tribunal (AAT) or other tribunal under the Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation Act, the Commonwealth Occupational Health and Safety Act and associated legislation or processes;
- 37.6 At any stage the Commission may dismiss or refrain from further hearing a matter or part of a matter which in the view of the Commission is vexatious, misconceived or

lacking in substance.

37.7 In arbitrating the matter, the Commission must have regard to the following principle:

As a successful postal business in an increasingly competitive and global market environment, Australia Post has the accountability to:

- (a) operate the business efficiently;
- (b) determine and allocate resources;
- (c) implement both large and small changes in an efficient, timely and cost-effective manner;
- (d) explore means of protecting and expanding business levels; and
- (e) provide fair and equitable treatment to its employees and provide safe workplaces that support employee diversity and work/life balance arrangements.
- **37.8** Prior to the commencement of the arbitration, the Commission must issue directions requiring each party to the dispute to file and serve:
 - 37.8.1 Witness statements;
 - 37.8.2 An outline of the grounds upon which it contends jurisdiction exists; and
 - 37.8.3 An outline of submissions which clearly states the question the party wishes the Commission to determine and which sets out the contentions of fact and law of the party.
- 37.9 Either party may request a separate jurisdictional hearing to determine whether the Commission has jurisdiction to arbitrate the dispute. If such a request is made the Commission must issue directions prior to the commencement of the hearing requiring each party to the dispute to file and serve the documents referred to at clause 37.6 above in respect of the jurisdictional hearing.
- 37.10 The Commission must not arbitrate the matter unless each party to the dispute has complied with the directions issued by the Commission. In the event that there is a failure to comply with the directions, a party may apply to the Commission to have the matter struck out.
- 37.11 In arbitrating the matter the Commission must confine itself to determining the question the subject of the arbitration and to considering the matters raised in the outline of submissions of the parties to the dispute.
- 37.12 If arbitrating the matter, the Commission may undertake any or all of the following functions as are necessary to assist the parties to resolve a dispute:
 - 37.12.1 Take verbal or written evidence on oath or affirmation, in chief and by cross examination

- 37.12.2 Conduct a hearing
- 37.12.3 Conduct any part of the proceedings or deliberations in private;
- 37.12.4 Summon to appear before the Commission any party to the dispute, witnesses or persons whose presence the Commission believes would assist in the resolution of the dispute and who are covered by this Agreement or employed by a party bound by this Agreement;
- 37.12.5 Request the attendance before the Commission of any witness or person whose presence the Commission believes would assist in the resolution of the dispute;
- 37.12.6 Receive documents and other material related to the dispute and compel the production of documents and other material that relates to the dispute in either hard or electronic form; and
- 37.12.7 Give directions in relation to procedural matters.
- 37.13 The outcome of any arbitration by the Commission shall be in writing and accompanied by written reasons unless it is agreed between the parties that reasons are not required.
- **37.14** To assist in the decision making process, the proceedings before the AIRC may be recorded and transcribed by the Commission.
- **37.15** An arbitrated decision of the Commission will bind the parties, subject to either party being able to exercise a right of appeal against the decision to a Full Bench.
- 37.16 While the parties are attempting to resolve the matter, the employee(s) will continue to work in accordance with the Agreement and their contract of employment, unless the employee(s) has a reasonable concern about an immediate threat to their health or safety. In such circumstances and subject to Part 3, Division 3 Emergency Procedures of the *Commonwealth Occupational Health and Safety Act*, the employee(s) must not unreasonably fail to comply with a direction by Australia Post to perform other available work that is appropriate for the employee(s) to perform.
- **37.17** Clauses 37.4 to 37.13 will only apply until a party to the Agreement initiates a bargaining period following the expiry of the Agreement.
- 37.18 To assist in the resolution of disputes in Australia Post, an employee representative will be granted leave of absence of up to two days during the term of the Agreement, to attend short courses conducted by a recognised training provider, which are specifically directed towards effective dispute resolution.

The grant of leave will be subject to:

- 37.18.1 the operating requirements of Australia Post;
- 37.18.2 the training will not be conducted by a trade union;

37.18.3 the specific training course and provider being accepted by Australia Post; and 37.18.4 an employee representative granted leave of absence under this clause will receive normal pay plus shift penalties if applicable for the absence from duty. **SALARY SACRIFICE** 38. CI 13.1 38.1 Any salary sacrifice will require approval by Australia Post and must comply with FBA 6 taxation and other relevant laws and Australia Post policies and procedures and, where salary sacrifice is made to a Superannuation fund, the Trust Deed requirements of that Fund. Details of any salary sacrifice arrangements must be in writing and signed by the employee and Australia Post. 38.2 Prior to engaging in any salary sacrifice arrangement, an employee is advised to obtain CI 13.2 independent financial advice concerning the tax effectiveness of the arrangement. FBA 6 38.3 Subject to clause 38.1, a permanent employee may sacrifice salary for the purpose of Superannuation and/or the acquisition by purchase (or other means) of a lap top computer package approved by Australia Post. 38.4 Subject to clause 38.1, where an employee is eligible to receive the Corporate Bonus as specified in Attachment C of this Agreement, the employee may sacrifice all of the bonus he or she is entitled to receive for the purpose of Superannuation. An election to sacrifice the bonus must be completed on an authorised election form, which must be received by Australia Post's Shared Services Division by close of business on the last Friday on or before 30 June of the year in which the bonus is payable. **DEFINITIONS** 39. CI 15 FBA 39.1 "The Agreement" means the Australia Post Enterprise Agreement 2007. 39.2 Administrative/Professional Employee means an employee employed in an Administrative/Professional Classification in Schedule A. 39.3 "Australia Post" means the Australian Postal Corporation as defined under the Australian Postal Corporation Act 1989 (Cth.). Operational Employee means an employee employed in an Operational classification in 39.4 Schedule A.

"The Parties" means the parties referred to in clause 2.1 of the Agreement.

"Term" means the term of the Agreement being from the date of lodgement to the

Technical Employee means an employee employed in a Technical Classification in

date of expiry.

Schedule A.

39.5

39.6

39.7

40. AUSTRALIAN WORKPLACE AGREEMENTS

- **40.1** Australia Post may enter into Australian Workplace Agreements (**AWAs**) with its employees.
- 40.2 No employee will be required to enter into an AWA for their existing job or where they are transferring to a position at the same classification.
- 40.3 At the time of offering an AWA, Australia Post will advise any employees or prospective employees of their right to appoint a Bargaining Agent and will allow employees or prospective employees up to 14 and 7 days respectively to consider the AWA as required.
- **40.4** Existing employees who are party to AWAs will, on expiry of those AWAs, have the choice of accepting a subsequent AWA or not.

41. EMPLOYMENT CONDITIONS - EXPIRED CERTIFIED AGREEMENTS

41.1 The parties agree to retain for the life of this Agreement those employment conditions set out in Attachment D.

CI 12.6 and Att D EBA 6

Attachment A - Classifications

Classification

ADMINISTRATIVE/PROFESSIONAL CLASSIFICATIONS

ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER

Administrative Officer

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Level 4

Level 5

Level 6

COUNSELLOR

Counsellor

Level 2

Level 3

ENGINEER

Engineer

Class 2

Class 3

LIBRARIAN

Librarian

Class 1

Class 2

Class 3

OPERATIONAL CLASSIFICATIONS

AGENCY ASSISTANT

Agency Assistant Grade 1

Agency Assistant Grade 2

CUSTOMER CONTACT CENTRE

Customer Service Trainee - Level 1

Customer Service Consultant - Level 2

Customer Care Consultant - Level 3

Business Relationship Consultant - Level 4

Business Revenue Consultant

Team Leader Customer Service - Level 5

Team Leader Business Sales - Level 6

Specialist Manager - Level 7

ELECTRONIC MAIL

Electronic Mail Operator Electronic Mail Co-ordinator

FOOD SERVICES

Senior Attendant Cafeteria Manager Grade 2

MAIL PROCESSING

Trainee Mail Officer Level 1 Mail Officer Senior Mail Officer Grade 1 Grade 2

MAIL PROCESSING CO-ORDINATOR

Trainee Mail Processing Co-ordinator Mail Processing Co-ordinator Grade 1 Grade 2

Grade 3 Grade 4

MAIL ROOM SOLUTIONS

Mail Room Officer
Mail Room Supervisor

PARCELS

Trainee Parcel Post Officer Level 1

Parcel Post Officer

Senior Parcel Post Officer

Grade 1

Grade 2

Parcel Post Co-ordinator

Grade 2

Grade 3

POSTAL DELIVERY

Trainee Postal Delivery Officer Postal Delivery Officer Senior Postal Delivery Officer

Grade 1

Grade 2

Grade 3

Postal Delivery Co-ordinator

Grade 1

Grade 2

Grade 3

POSTAL MANAGER

Postal Manager

Grade 1

Grade 2

Grade 3

POSTAL SERVICES

Trainee Postal Services Officer

Postal Services Officer

Senior Postal Services Officer

Grade 1

Grade 2

SPRINTPAK

Sprintpak Operator

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

STORES

Stores Officer

Senior Stores Officer

Stores Supervisor

Senior Stores Supervisors

Grade 1

Grade 2

Grade 3

SUPPORT SERVICES

Support Services Officer

Grade 1

Grade 2

Grade 3

Grade 4

TRANSPORT

Postal Transport Officer

Senior Postal Transport Officer

Postal Transport Co-ordinator

Grade 1

Grade 2

Grade 3

Grade 4

TECHNICAL CLASSIFICATIONS

POSTAL TECHNICAL OFFICER

Postal Technical Officer

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Level 4

Level 5

Level 6

Level 7

Level 8

Level 9

APPRENTICE/ASSISTANT

Apprentice - Adult

Drafting Assistant Grade 1

Graphic Design Assistant Grade 1

TECHNICAL SERVICES

Senior Technical Services Officer

Grade 1

Grade 2

Grade 3

Principal Technical Services Officer

Grade 1

Grade 2

Attachment B - Adjustment of Allowances

The following allowances will be adjusted at the same time by the same percentage increases that apply to classifications in accordance with the Agreement:

ALLOWANCE	AUTHORITY
Dirty Cleaning Work	CI 12.1
Divide Allowance	CI 12.2
First Aid Allowance	CI 12.4
Higher Duties Allowance	CI 12.7
In-Charge Allowance - Retail Staff	CI 12.8
Industry Allowance	CI 12.9
Miscellaneous _ Custody of Stock	CI 12.10
PDO Functional Allowance	CI 12.12
Qualifications Allowance (AO 1)	CI 12.14
Special Rates – Technical Employees	CI 12.16
Teams Skill Loading:	CI 12.18
Mail Officer	
Technical Structure	
Tonnage Allowance	CI 12.21
Sprintpak Drive & Operate Forklift	Cl 5.1 Sprintpak Agreement – Attachment D
Sprintpak Machine Adjustment	Cl 5.2 Sprintpak Agreement – Attachment D

Attachment C - Bonus - Eligibility

Payment of any bonus is subject to the person being employed by Australia Post as at the time the bonus is paid (with the exception of retirees) or in respect of casual employees, the individual still being employed by Australia Post on a regular – although casual – basis.

EMPLOYMENT CATEGORY	PERIOD OF EMPLOYMENT	FILOIDII ITI
OR STAFF SITUATION	(FROM DATE OF AGREEMENT LODGEMENT TO 30 JUNE 2009)*	ELIGIBILITY
Permanent and Fixed Term (Full and Part	- During 2 pay periods or less	No Bonus
Time Staff) employed in classifications in	- During 3-6 pay periods	Quarter Bonus
Attachment A	- More than 6 pay periods	Full Bonus
Casuals (other than Christmas) directly	- During 2 pay periods or less	No Bonus
employed and paid by Post.	- During 3-6 pay periods	Quarter Bonus
	- More than 6 pay periods	Full Bonus
Casuals employed through and paid by a recruitment agency.		No Bonus
Casuals (Christmas)		No Bonus
Sick Leave (paid or unpaid),	- During 2 pay periods or less	No bonus
Compensation, Maternity Leave (paid or	- During 3-6 pay periods	Quarter Bonus
unpaid).	- More than 6 pay periods	Full bonus
Long term (ie more than 12 months)	- During 2 pay periods or less	No Bonus
Leave for example recreation leave, long	- During 3-6 pay periods	Quarter Bonus
service leave, leave without pay, career	- More than 6 pay periods	Full Bonus
break or any combinations of such leave.		
Agency Assistants still employed by		Bonus paid according to above
Australia Post		employment categories.
Contractors/Licensed Post Offices/ Franchisees		No Bonus
Retirees - during relevant period	- During 2 pay periods or less	No Bonus
netilees - during relevant period	- During 3-6 pay periods	Quarter Bonus
	- More than 6 pay periods	Full Bonus
	Word than o pay periods	Tuli Bolluo
Retirees - after 30 June 2009 and before		Full Bonus
bonus is paid (age 55 and above and		
meeting other eligibility requirements in		
respect of relevant bonus)		
Resignations/Terminations (including		No Bonus - nor do any earlier period/s of
VRP) before the bonus is paid		service in the relevant financial year from
		which the employee has resigned count
		for eligibility if the employee is
5		subsequently re-employed
Executive Staff, Contract Staff, staff employed under an AWA and A06 Staff		No Bonus
Staff commencing employment after end		No Bonus
of relevant financial year		
Temporary Part Time Support Services		Full Bonus
Officers and Attendants #		

EMPLOYMENT CATEGORY OR STAFF SITUATION	PERIOD OF EMPLOYMENT (FROM DATE OF AGREEMENT LODGEMENT TO 30 JUNE 2009)*	ELIGIBILITY
Staff converting from classifications in Attachment A to contract positions during the eligibility period and		No bonus if, in aggregate, performance payments (associated with contract employment) for relevant financial years exceed \$500.
Staff nominally occupying A06 positions who gain access to Performance Pay during the Eligibility period		If, in aggregate, performance payments (associated with contract employment) for relevant financial years are less than \$500 the difference would be paid by way of the Corporate Bonus (ie. a total of \$500 would be paid).

^{*} Need not be continuous

[#] These will be the staff who have elected to remain on their current percentage loading conditions in lieu of being translated to the new employment categories (and associated standard conditions)

Attachment D - Additional Employment Conditions
From Expired Certified Agreements
Retained for the Period of Operation
of the Agreement

1. a) Title: Australia Post Interstate Linehaul Agreement

b) Application: This agreement applies to employees classified as Postal Transport

Officer whilst engaged on interstate linehaul operations.

c) **Provisions:** The provisions included in the Agreement are:

2. STANDARD TRIP TIMES

2.1 Linehaul trip times for current interstate linehaul runs are set out in Table 1 below:

Table 1

TRIP	TIME (Hours and Minutes)
Sydney-Tarcutta — Sydney	10:00
Melbourne-Tarcutta-Melbourne	10:10
Melbourne-Nhill-Melbourne	9:00
Adelaide-Nhill-Adelaide	8:30
Melbourne-Dubbo	10:05*
Dubbo-Melbourne	10:05*
Brisbane-Dubbo	10:00
Dubbo-Brisbane	10:00
Sydney-Hay	8:25
Hay-Sydney	8:25
Adelaide-Hay	8:10
Hay-Adelaide	8:10
Brisbane-Glen Innes –Brisbane	9:05
Sydney-Glen Innes (and return trip)	8:45
Brisbane-Coffs Harbour-Brisbane	9:45

^{*}Time includes diversion to Parkes

- 2.2 Trip times comprise driving times only and exclude administration, hand over and vehicle check duties for which an employee will be paid an additional 30 minutes each shift.
- 2.3 The trip times set out in Table 1 will be monitored by Australia Post and be subject to review in accordance with the process in clause 5 of this Agreement for reviewing standard trip times.

2.4 In the event that a review under clause 5 indicates that a trip time set out in Table 1 requires adjustment, or in the event that Australia Post introduces a new interstate linehaul route, the parties will consult on the new standard trip time.

3. REMUNERATION SYSTEM

- 3.1 Standard trip payments for interstate linehaul operations will be determined by applying:
 - (a) the appropriate salary point of the Postal Transport Officer (Parity) classification applicable to the employee as adjusted for EBA increases;
 - (b) the tonnage allowance applicable to the vehicle being driven as adjusted for EBA increases;
 - (c) shift penalty and overtime payments where applicable in accordance with clauses 15 and 17 of this Agreement; and
 - (d) the trip times set out in Table 1 above.

4. TRANSITIONAL ARRANGEMENTS

Employees engaged in interstate linehaul operations will continue to be paid interstate linehaul trip rates payable immediately prior to 9 August 2004 until these rates are overtaken by the standard trip payments payable in accordance with the remuneration system at clause 3 above.

5. PROCESS FOR REVIEWING STANDARD TRIP TIMES

- 5.1 Australia Post will monitor trip times for interstate linehaul runs as recorded by on-board truck computers.
- 5.2 Australia Post will provide the union with details of trip time summaries recorded under 5.1 on a monthly basis or as otherwise agreed by the parties.
- 5.3 Where it appears that a trip time in Table 1 is no longer appropriate, or where a new run is being introduced, the following process will apply:
 - (a) trip times recorded by the on-board truck computers during a recent month of heavy mail loads and a recent month of light mail loads will be examined;
 - (b) anomalous or abnormal times will be excluded;
 - (c) valid trip times for each selected month will be recorded in order from fastest to slowest time;
 - (d) 10% of valid times at each end of the range of times recorded for each month will be excluded;
 - (e) the remaining valid times will be used to determine an average time for each selected month;

(f)	based on the above trip time information, Australia Post will determine new/revised trip times after appropriate consultation.
	B 6.4 . U B . F . I A

1. a) Titles:

- 1. Extension of Penalty Rates Eligibility Agreement 1993 (Brisbane City Delivery Centre);
- 2. Extension of Penalty Rates Eligibility Agreement 1993 (Transport Branch (Adelaide);
- 3. Australia Post Northgate Transport Depot Queensland Agreement 1994;
- 5. Australia Post Northgate Mail Centre Agreement 1995;
- 6. Australia Post Underwood Mail Centre Agreement 1996;
- 7. Australia Post Gold Coast Mail Centre Agreement 1995
- b) **Application:** These agreements apply respectively to the following employees:
 - 1. Employees at the Brisbane City Delivery Centre;
 - 2. Employees at the Transport Branch in South Australia (excluding Linehaul staff);
 - 3. Postal Transport Officer (Drivers) and Postal Transport Co-ordinators Grades 1 and 2 in the Northgate Transport Depot;
 - 4. All employees, except the Technical Services Group, employed at the Northgate Mail Centre (including employees at the Brisbane Airport Transit Centre).
 - 5. All permanent full-time employees, except Technical employees, employed at the Underwood Mail Centre.
 - 6. All permanent full-time employees employed at the Gold Coast Mail Centre.
- c) **Provisions:** The provisions included in the Agreement are:

PAYMENT

Notwithstanding clause 17.1.2 of the Agreement, employees to whom this clause applies who are required to work ordinary hours where the entire shift occurs between 6:00pm and 8:00am for a minimum period of one day will become immediately eligible for the 30 percent penalty rate.

1. a) Titles:

- 1. Australia Post Mail Network Queensland (Northgate, Underwood and Gold Coast Mail Centres Part-time Employees) Agreement 1996;
- 2. Australia Post Toowoomba Mail Centre Agreement 1996;
- b) **Application:** These agreements apply respectively to the following employees:
 - All part-time employees employed at the Northgate Mail Centre (including part time employees at the Brisbane Airport Transit Centre), Underwood and Gold Coast Mail Centres:
 - 2. All permanent employees (including part-time employees) employed at the Toowoomba Mail Centre Queensland.
- c) **Provisions:** The provisions included in the Agreement are:

PAYMENT

Notwithstanding clauses 17.1.2 and 17.1.3 of the Agreement, employees to whom this clause applies who are required to work ordinary hours on a shift which falls wholly between 6:00pm and 8:00am for a minimum period of one day will become immediately eligible for the 30 percent penalty rate.

1. a) Title: Australia Post Queensland Intrastate Linehaul Agreement 1997

b) Application: This agreement applies to Postal Transport Officers employed on

intrastate linehaul duties at the Underwood Transport Depot and

Townsville Mail Centre in Queensland.

c) **Provisions:** The provisions included in the Agreement are:

2. PAYMENT

The process for reviewing standard trip times is set out at clause 5 of Appendix 1 of Attachment D relating to Interstate Linehaul arrangements.

1. a) Title: Australia Post Administrative Officers Level 6 Salary and Employment Conditions Agreement

b) **Application:** This agreement applies to employees who nominally occupy an

Administrative Officer Level 6 position.

c) **Provisions:** The provisions included in the Agreement are:

2. SALARY ADJUSTMENT

Administrative Officers Level 6 – Non Shift Workers

2.1 Administrative Officers Level 6 who nominally occupy a position that does not require regular shift work shall have their base salary increased to the following rates:

	Current Salary (as at 2 November 2006)	Adjusted Salary
Administrative	\$69,520	\$74,703
Officer Level 6	\$71,937	\$77,114

Administrative Officers Level 6 – Shift Workers

2.2 Administrative Officers Level 6 who nominally occupy a position that requires regular shift work shall have their base salary increased to the following rates:

	Current Salary (as at 2 November 2006)	Adjusted Salary
Administrative	\$69,520	\$73,781
Officer Level 6	\$71,937	\$76,196

Staff Transferring From Non-Shift To Shift Positions

- 2.3 Where an Administrative Officer Level 6, who is subject to the salary adjustment prescribed under clause 2.1, transfers temporarily to a position requiring the regular performance of shiftwork, eligibility for any additional entitlement to Annual Leave Loading shall be determined by agreement between the parties.
- 2.4 Where an Administrative Officer Level 6, who is subject to the salary adjustment prescribed under clause 2.1, transfers permanently to a position requiring the regular performance of shiftwork, their base salary shall be reduced to the same salary step prescribed at clause 2.2 on a point to point basis and they shall become subject to clause 18.9 of this Agreement.

Staff Transferring From Shift To Non-Shift Positions

- 2.5 Where an Administrative Officer Level 6, who is subject to the salary adjustment prescribed under clause 2.2, transfers temporarily to a position that does not require the regular performance of shiftwork, eligibility for Annual Leave Loading shall be determined in accordance with clause 18.9 of the Agreement.
- 2.6 Where an Administrative Officer Level 6, who is subject to the salary adjustment prescribed under clause 2.2, transfers permanently to a position that does not require the regular performance of shiftwork, their base salary shall be adjusted to the same salary step prescribed at clause 2.1 on a point to point basis and they shall cease to be entitled to Annual Leave Loading in accordance with clause 18.9 of the Agreement.

3. PERFORMANCE PAY

Administrative Officers Level 6 shall be eligible for performance pay in a manner determined by the parties.

4. EMPLOYMENT CONDITIONS

Administrative Officer Level 6

- 4.1 In recognition of the salary adjustment referred to in clause 5.1 and the eligibility for performance pay referred to in clause 3, the following employment conditions will no longer apply to Administrative Officer Level 6:
 - (a)
- clause 12.23 : Travelling Allowance
- clause 12.7 : Higher Duties Allowance
- (b)
- clause 14.2.3 : Flexible Hours
- (c) Eligibility for the corporate bonus contained in the Australia Post Enterprise Agreement 1996-1998 and any subsequent Enterprise Agreements.
- (d) Access to clause 5 (Grievances) of the Australia Post Principal Determination in respect of performance assessment associated with the application of the Performance Management Agreement (or any subsequent such process), Performance Pay (clause 3), or Salary Sacrifice (clause 5).

Administrative Officers Level 6 – Non Shift Workers

4.2 In addition to the non-application of all of the foregoing employment conditions,
Administrative Officers Level 6 who occupy positions that do not require regular shift
work will also cease to be covered by clause 18.9 of the Agreement titled Annual Leave
Loading.

5. SALARY SACRIFICE

Employees covered by this Agreement may elect to take an amount of up to 25% of base salary in the form of other benefits approved by Australia Post and on such terms and conditions as determined by Australia Post.

6. DISPUTE SETTLEMENT - PERFORMANCE PAY (CLAUSE 3) AND SALARY SACRIFICE (CLAUSE 5)

In the event of any dispute arising from a decision made by Australia Post in relation to Performance Pay or Salary Sacrifice the matter shall be raised in the first instance, by the individual or their Staff Organisation with the Group Manager, Human Resources (for Headquarters staff) or the relevant Divisional Human Resources Manager (for State based staff). If a disputed matter cannot be resolved at this level it may be referred to the Managing Director for resolution.

1. a) Title: Sprintpak Division Enterprise Agreement 1995

b) **Application:** This agreement applies to all employees in the Sprintpak Division

employed in classifications specified in Attachment A.

c) **Provisions:** The provisions included in the Agreement are:

2. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF SERVICE

Subject to any separate conditions prescribed in this appendix, employees will be covered by the general terms and conditions of service specified in this Agreement.

3. HOURS OF DUTY

- 3.1 The ordinary hours of duty shall be 36.75 per week or an average of 36.75 per week over a cycle of shifts.
- 3.2 The daily hours of ordinary duty shall not exceed 7 hours 21 minutes except where work is performed with a reduced number of attendances.
- 3.3 By agreement between Australia Post and the employee, rostered days off may be accumulated up to a maximum of 5 days and shall be entitled to be taken in a manner agreed between the employer and employee.
- 3.4 Subject to 3.3, and by agreement between Australia Post and the employee, rostered days off may be paid out at ordinary rates.

4. MEAL BREAK

An employee shall not be employed for more than 5 hours continuously without being granted a meal break of not less than 30 minutes nor more than 75 minutes, provided that by mutual agreement between the majority of employees at a facility and Australia Post, a longer period for the meal break may be arranged.

5. ALLOWANCES

- An employee classified in Level 1 who is required to drive and operate a fork lift truck for a day or part of a day shall be paid the relevant allowance as set down in the Australia Post Human Resources Manual Rates of Pay Booklet.
- 5.2 An employee classified in Level 1 who is required to adjust machinery on any day shall be paid the relevant allowance as set down in the Australia Post Human Resources Manual Rates of Pay Booklet.
- 5.3 Eligibility for these allowances will be subject to agreement between the parties.

- 1. a) Title: Australian Postal Corporation Home Based Work Agreement 1995
- **2. Application:** This agreement applies to employees employed in classifications appearing in Schedule A:
- **3. Provisions:** The provisions included in the Agreement are:

HOME BASED WORK ARRANGEMENT

- 3.1 Where consistent with customer/client service and operational requirements, an employee may request to work from home for a period of time on a regular or temporary basis with the agreement of their manager.
- 3.2 Australia Post will consider such requests on a case by case basis and approval shall be subject to customer/client service and operational needs being met after consideration of the effect of the proposal on individual workloads and the work area as a whole.
- 3.3 A Home Based Work (HBW) arrangement may be:
 - (i) varied or discontinued by agreement at either the manager's or employee's request, provided that neither party will unreasonably withhold agreement to vary or discontinue the arrangement; or
 - (ii) terminated by the manager after the period of notice agreed upon with the employee in the Letter of Agreement, or where no period of notice has been agreed upon, 4 weeks notice.
- 3.4 In addition to 3.3 managers can vary or discontinue a HBW arrangement at any time if it is considered that:
 - (i) the arrangement is having an adverse impact on the operational requirements of the employee's work area; or
 - (ii) the arrangement is considered to be inefficient and/or ineffective; or
 - (iii) the employee is failing to comply with any agreed requirements.
- 3.5 A Letter of Agreement must be signed by the manager and the employee before HBW arrangement is put in place.

REVISED AUSTRALIA POST REDUNDANCY/REDEPLOYMENT/RETRAINING AGREEMENT

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 This agreement has been negotiated between Australia Post and the CEPU and CPSU acting as a single bargaining unit on behalf of award-based members of all Australia Post unions, and will apply to all such persons from 10 February 1993.

OBJECTIVES

- 2.1 In negotiating this agreement, the parties have sought to achieve:
 - (i) a process through which job security can be maintained for as many Australia Post employees as possible and any necessary retrenchments will be voluntary, as far as is practicable;
 - (ii) the provision of fair compensation for employees whose employment with Australia Post ceases through retrenchment;
 - (iii) a proper process for the consideration of alternative employment opportunities for excess employees whose genuine desire is for alternative employment within Australia Post; and
 - (iv) involuntary retrenchment from Australia Post only for those excess employees for whom reasonable alternative employment is not available.
- 2.2 The arrangements described in this agreement provide for voluntary retrenchment in all circumstances other than where an employee refuses redeployment, retraining, relocation or transfer to another position, or where, after a comprehensive three month examination, an alternative placement is not able to be found.

3. DEFINITION OF REDUNDANCY

- 3.1 A position at Australia Post will be deemed to be redundant if, because of "operational reasons", an employee is no longer required to carry out work of a particular kind, or the work for the employee to perform has significantly diminished, and Australia Post has determined that the function being undertaken by the employee will no longer be undertaken within Australia Post, or at that location by Australia Post.
- 3.2 "Operational reasons" are reasons of an efficiency, economic, technological, structural, geographic or similar nature relating to Australia Post's undertaking, establishment, service or business or to a part of Australia Post's undertaking, establishment, service or business."

4. ENTITLEMENT TO VOLUNTARY RETRENCHMENT

- 4.1 While this agreement provides avenues by which employees may be selected for voluntary retrenchment or elect to be retrenched voluntarily, it is noted that there is no automatic right to voluntary retrenchment.
- 4.2 Australia Post specifically reserves the right to reject applications for voluntary retrenchment having regard to its overall staffing requirements and the need to retain necessary, key skills and expertise, for the ongoing viability of the organisation.

5. PROCEDURES FOR DEALING WITH SURPLUS STAFF SITUATIONS

- 5.1 The procedures for dealing with surplus staff situations depend on whether the surplus positions can be clearly identified .
- 5.2 Section 6 deals with those situations where specific identification of the position is possible (which includes circumstances where all positions, at a particular level, at a single location, are surplus).
- 5.3 Section 7 outlines the arrangements to be followed when a number of positions at a level are surplus and the individual positions cannot be identified clearly.

CLEARLY IDENTIFIED SURPLUS POSITIONS

- Australia Post will simultaneously advise the State Branch of the appropriate union and the occupant of the position that the position/s is excess to requirements. This advice will be provided through Form A (attached). One copy of Form B shall also be provided in relation to each surplus position, but only if agreed by the employee who occupies the position.
- All relevant information is to be provided to the union and will include classification, location, and subject to agreement by the employee concerned, details of the employee. Where consequential changes in staffing structures are proposed, the number and classification of employees in that part of Australia Post, the number and classification of employees expected to be required for the performance of any continuing function in the part of Australia Post affected are also to be provided and subject to agreement by each employee concerned, details of the employees likely to be affected.
- 6.3 If required, discussions with the relevant union will conclude within two weeks of the provision of advice in Forms A and B but, with Australia Post's agreement, may be extended on a case by case basis.
- 6.4 The discussions with the relevant union shall include the background to the surplus staffing situation, the measures, if any, which could reduce the incidence of employees becoming surplus to requirements, and any planned recruitment.

- Once the consultative phase is completed and there is confirmation that the position is surplus, or where the union has confirmed that there is no need for discussion, Australia Post may proceed immediately to advise the employee that he/she may elect to be retrenched voluntarily following a one week cooling off period from the date of advice. If the employee so elects, retrenchment will be effected at the conclusion of the formal notice period (four weeks after the end of the cooling off period), or at an earlier date by mutual agreement.
- Where redeployment and/or retraining is the employee's preference, Australia Post will take all available steps to secure such an outcome. The measures to find a suitable position will include full discussions with the individual on all available options across the whole Australia Post organisation.

The union will be involved in those discussions except where the individual indicates that this is not necessary - such involvement should not delay the process. Where there is a vacancy which would permit the redeployment and/or retraining of an employee surplus to requirements, and more than one employee makes application for the vacancy; the redeployee (or most efficient redeployee) will be selected, unless he/she is assessed as not competent for the job.

Where an employee, other than an employee identified for redeployment, is prepared to accept management initiated retrenchment, Australia Post shall retrench that employee to allow redeployment of an employee identified for redeployment or retraining. This will occur within the restrictions outlined in paragraph 4.2 above. In addition to established redeployment mechanisms, which will be activated automatically, the employee will be afforded opportunities to investigate personally employment options inside Australia Post and, where approved by management, outside Australia Post. If requested, personal development training will be made available to the individual to assist in this process.

- 6.7 After a one month investigation of all available options, or sooner if agreed, Australia Post may initiate redeployment of an employee to another position/location, the function of which the employee is reasonably capable of undertaking, after receipt of necessary training and experience.
- 6.8 Redeployment involving a change in domicile is to be avoided wherever possible. Such offers of redeployment are not to be made with the objective of having an employee refuse an alternative placement.

Where however the only available change in position involves relocation, and the new work location is of such a distance from the employee's residence as to necessitate a change of domicile, standard relocation arrangements will apply. Employees who do not wish to be relocated can elect to take a retrenchment package.

7. SURPLUS POSITIONS WHICH CANNOT BE CLEARLY IDENTIFIED

- 7.1 Australia Post will advise the State Branch of the appropriate union that a number of positions are surplus to requirements. This advice will be provided through Form A (attached) and a general advice of surplus positions will be provided to employees in the class or classes of positions at the location/s concerned.
- 7.2 All relevant information is to be provided to the union and will include classification, location and subject to agreement by the employee concerned details of the employee and, where consequential changes in staffing structures are proposed, the number and classification of employees in that part of Australia Post, the number and classification of employees expected to be required for the performance of any continuing function in the part of Australia Post affected, and subject to agreement by each employee concerned details of the employees likely to be affected.
- 7.3 Discussion with the appropriate union shall conclude within three weeks of advice on Form A but, with Australia Post's agreement, may be extended depending on the numbers of positions and complexity of the issues to be addressed.
- 7.4 The discussion with the relevant union shall include the background to the excess staffing situation, the measures, if any, which could reduce the incidence of employees becoming excess to requirements and any planned recruitment.
- 7.5 Where the outcome of consultation with the union is confirmation that the positions are surplus, Australia Post may invite <u>all</u> affected employees at that level (or levels) to volunteer for retrenchment.
- 7.6 Within the specifically reserved right of Australia Post to refuse any application for voluntary retrenchment, the ranking of volunteers will give priority to staff with the longest period of service. Ranking, however, should also have regard to age, job skills, the practicality of redeployment, relocation, retraining and personal circumstances on an individual basis.
- 7.7 Once a ranking has been established in accordance with section 7.6, the employee(s) will be advised formally that they may elect to be retrenched voluntarily following a one week cooling off period from the date of the advice. Retrenchment will be effected at the conclusion of the formal notice period (four weeks after the end of the one week cooling off period), or earlier by mutual agreement.
- 7.8 If the number of volunteers is less than the number of excess staff the redeployment and/or retraining measures outlined in section 6.6 apply.

8. INVOLUNTARY RETRENCHMENT

8.1 Where an employee refuses a management initiated redeployment decision made in accordance with this agreement, the employee may be retrenched involuntarily after a period of two weeks from the advice of the management initiated transfer.

- Where it has not been possible to identify suitable redeployment after a three month investigation and no prospect of such redeployment is identifiable, the employee may be retrenched involuntarily after a period of two weeks following advice to the employee and concurrent advice to the relevant union. Payment of four weeks wages will be made in lieu of notice plus the other retrenchment payments provided for in this agreement.
- 8.3 A retrenchment under Clause 8.2 can be effected only where the General Manager, or the Group Manager, Human Resources in respect of Headquarters staff, certifies that:-
 - (i) a minimum 3 month investigation of suitable redeployment opportunities has proceeded across all designation categories of the Corporation;
 - (ii) such investigation has failed to identify suitable opportunity, including through the voluntary retrenchment of another employee; and
 - (iii) Australia Post has concluded that the employee is not capable of being redeployed or retrained to any other position in the Corporation.
- 8.4 (a) While all action to identify suitable redeployment opportunities and to place surplus employees may be activated at the commencement of this agreement, there shall be no involuntary retrenchment under Clauses 8.2 and 8.3 before 10 February 1994.
 - (b) This moratorium on involuntary retrenchment does not apply to temporary part-time staff unless they have previously been given no retrenchment assurances.
- Where, but for Australia Post's refusal to accept an application for voluntary retrenchment for another employee engaged in the same work, at the same level and in the same location, a surplus employee could have been placed, that employee will not be retrenched involuntarily.

9. SALARY MAINTENANCE

- 9.1 The salary of an employee who is identified as surplus to requirements and who does not elect to accept voluntary retrenchment shall be maintained at the level prescribed for the nominal classification of that employee for at least two years from the date of formal notice that the employee is surplus to requirements. An individual review will take place of any excess staff who have been receiving salary maintenance for two years. No redeployee however, will have his/her salary maintenance ceased unless he/she has refused a reasonable opportunity for placement at their nominal level.
- 9.2 For the purposes of 9.1, salary maintenance will include normal incremental advancement through the former salary range and future wage adjustments awarded to the classification of the position the employee was occupying immediately before the position was declared surplus to requirements.

- 9.3 Maintenance of higher duties for surplus employees will be paid in accordance with the following:
 - (i) where, at date of redeployment, the redeployee is employed on short term higher duties (i.e. up to 6 months) the higher duties payment is to continue as income maintenance for the previously authorised higher duties period; or
 - (ii) where, at the date of redeployment, the redeployee is employed on long term higher duties the higher duties payment is to continue as income maintenance for 6 months. Except that where an employee has accrued a minimum of 12 months higher duties service in the previous 14 months, higher duties payment is to continue as income maintenance for 12 months.

10. CONSEQUENTIAL CHANGES/STAFFING AGREEMENT

- 10.1 Notwithstanding the finalisation of redeployment or retrenchment under this agreement, the normal consultative/participative processes in respect of any consequential changes in staffing structures and the performance of any continuing functions in that part of Australia Post affected by the retrenchment(s) shall apply.
- Nothing in this agreement shall be taken to infer that the unions have given up any rights in respect of consultation/negotiation concerning staffing and staffing structures. Accordingly, it is agreed between the parties that they will adhere to all existing staffing agreements.

11. BENEFITS

- 11.1 This new benefit framework has been developed on the basis that:
 - (i) a comprehensive process for handling situations of redundancy in Australia Post in the future is essential to achieving the proper restructuring of the postal industry and to union acceptance of that restructuring; and
 - (ii) Australia Post unions and the ACTU give a firm commitment not to seek flow-on of the arrangements elsewhere.
- 11.2 The proposed benefit framework is:-
 - (i) four weeks' pay for each completed year of continuous service up to five years plus a pro-rata payment for each completed month of continuous service since the last completed year of continuous service;
 - (ii) three weeks' pay for each completed year of continuous service thereafter, plus a prorata payment for each completed month of continuous service since the last completed year of continuous service;
 - (iii) for employees over fifty years of age, four weeks' pay for each year of service beyond fifty years of age including pro-rata adjustment for each completed month of continuous service since the last completed year of continuous service:

- (iv) the minimum sum payable under these arrangements including any payment in lieu of notice (four weeks), is eight weeks' salary and the maximum including any payment in lieu of notice (four weeks), is eighty-four weeks' salary; and
- (v) the sum payable to an employee under these arrangements shall not exceed the salary that would be payable were the employee to continue in employment until the maximum retiring age.
- 11.3 For the purpose of calculating any payment under Sub-clause 11.2:-
 - (i) where an employee has been acting in a higher position for a continuous period of at least twelve months immediately preceding the date on which the employee receives notice of retrenchment the salary level shall be the employee's salary in such higher position at that date;
 - (ii) where an employee during fifty percent or more of pay periods in the twelve months immediately preceding the date on which the employee receives notice of retrenchment, has been paid an allowance for shift work, the weekly average amount (calculated over a year) of shift allowance received during the twelve month period shall be counted as part of "weekly salary".
 - (iii) other allowances, being allowances in the nature of salary, may be included with the approval of Australia Post.

12. ANNUAL LEAVE AND LONG SERVICE LEAVE

- 12.1 Recreation leave, leave bonus and long service leave entitlements will be paid in accordance with the prescribed entitlements.
- While normally employees are not entitled to pro-rata long service leave until they have accrued ten years' continuous service, employees retrenched under this agreement shall on termination receive payment for an amount equivalent to pro-rata long service after one year's continuous service.

13. USE OF SICK LEAVE

13.1 The formal notice period provided under the arrangements will be extended by any periods of certificated sick leave taken during such period.

14. AGREEMENT NOT TO PREVENT OTHER ACTION

14.1 Nothing in this agreement may be used to circumvent existing Australia Post staff mobility agreements or to prevent the reduction in classification of an employee or the retirement of an employee as a result of action under discipline, invalidity, inefficiency or loss of essential qualification provisions.

15. SUPERANNUATION

15.1 All standard superannuation entitlements will apply to employees retrenched under these arrangements.

16. RIGHT OF RETURN TO APS

The acceptance of voluntary retrenchment automatically severs any entitlement to return to the Australian Public Service a former Commonwealth employee may have. Any surplus employee with such rights contemplating a return to the APS should seek information from the Public service Commission either direct or through his/her staff clerk without delay, as time limits apply.

17. CONTINUOUS SERVICE

- 17.1 For the purposes of this Agreement, "continuous service" includes service with other Commonwealth Employing Authorities, or service with the Defence Forces which is recognised for long service leave purposes by Australia Post provided that:
 - (i) there has been no break in the successive periods of service: and
 - (ii) service with a former employer was not terminated because of retrenchment; retirement on the grounds of invalidity, inefficiency or loss of essential qualification, forfeiture of office, dismissal on disciplinary grounds; termination of probationary appointment because of unsatisfactory service; or voluntary retirement at or above the minimum retiring age applicable to the employee. Receipt of retirement superannuation benefits is a conclusive indication of age retirement.

SITUATIONS OF POTENTIAL REDUNDANCY: **GENERAL NOTIFICATION**

1.	DATE OF ADVICE:			
2.	AREA/S AFFECTED:			
3.	PROPOSED COMPLETION DATE:			
4.		IONS IDENTIFIED AS EXCESS: ing organisation chart/s to be attached)		
	4.1	LOCATION/S:		
	4.2	NUMBER OF POSITIONS:		
	4.3	CLASSIFICATIONS:		
	4.4	EXPLANATION OF REASON/CAUSE AND WORKLOAD IMPACT: (This explanation should address future workload)		
5.	AREA	EQUENTIAL STAFFING STRUCTURE — STAFF REQUIRED FOR CONTINUING FUNCTIONS IN AFFECTED: osed organisation chart/s to be attached)		
	5.1	NUMBER OF POSITIONS:		
	5.2	CLASSIFICATIONS:		

SITUATIONS OF POTENTIAL REDUNDANCY INDIVIDUAL POSITION SURPLUS TO REQUIREMENTS

1.	DATE OF ADVICE:		
2.	DESIGNATION:		
3.	POSIT	ION NUMBER:	
4.	REASONS WHY:		
5.	OCCU	PANT:	
	5.1	NAME:	
	5.2	SEX:	
	5.3	AGE:	
	5.4	YEARS OF SERVICE:	
	5.5	WORK TELEPHONE NUMBER:	
	5.6	HIGHER DUTIES: (Past 14 months)	
	5.7	REDEPLOYMENT PROSPECTS:	
OUTCOM	UTCOMES OF DISCUSSIONS WITH UNION:		